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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Sandi Hollandi Bank
(a Saudi Joint Stock Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Saudi Hollandi Bank
(the “Bank™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 1o as “the Group”}, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2013, the consolidated
Slatements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ €quity and cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes from | to 42. We have not audited notes 36 and 37, nor the information
related to “Basel [l - Capital Structure” and “Basel 111 Pitiar 3 disclosure” cross referenced
therein, which are not required to be within the scope of our audit.

Management’s Respousibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statememis in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions
issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (“SAMA™), Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards, the provisions of the Regulations for Companies, the Banking Control Law in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s By-Laws. In addition, management is responsible
for such internal controls as management determines is nccessary 10 enable the preparation of
consolidated financinl statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or crror.

Auditors' Responsihility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
abtain reasonable assurance about whether these consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Bank’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s intermal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole:

¢ present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2013, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia issued by SAMA and with International Financial
Reporting Standards; and

* comply with the requirements of the Regulations for Compariies, the Banking Control
Law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s By-Laws in so far as they affect
the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche

Bakr Abulkhair & Co. KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan
P.O. Box 213 P.0. Box 92876

Riyadh 13411 Riyadh 1 1663

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Ehsan A. Makbhdoum Abdullahk H. Al Fozan
Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 358 Rabi Al-Thani 3, 1435H  Registration No. 348

February §, 2014




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31
Amounts in SAR'000

ASSETS

Cash and balances with SAMA

Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investments, net

Loans and advances. net

Investment in an associate

Property and equipment. net

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities

Duse to banks and other financial institutions
Customers’ deposits

Subordinated debt

Other liabilities

Tatal liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Statutory reserve

General reserve

Other reserves

Reserve for bonus shares
Retained earnings

Proposed gross dividends
Staff share based plan reserve

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
X

ot

G

The accompanying notes | to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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12
13
14
15

16
17

18
16

26
39

1-Sudairi

Board Sareclary &
Chislzovernance Offizer

2013

6,662,522
1,751,367
16,849,162
53,652,325
17,233
504,802
1,030,850

80,468,261

e

2,494,278
61,875,449
4,625,000
2,072,106

71,466,833

3,969,000
3,081,128
130,000
21,690
793,800
915,348
468,342
22,120

9,401,428

80,468,261

3

|

9,562,455
840.717
11.378,577
43.276.199
18,050
488.767
940.748

68.505,513

1.474.923
53.913.672
2,900.000

1,910.939

60.199,534

3.969,000
2.705.726
130.000
(5.790)
1.051.286
444,528
11.229

8.305.979

68.505,513




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the years ended December 31
Amounts in SAR’000

Special commission income

Special commission expense

Net special commission income

Fee and commission income, net

Exchange income, net

Trading income, net

Dividend income from available for sale invesiments

(Losses) / gains on non-trading investments. net

Total operating income

Salaries and employee-refated expenses
Rent and premises-related expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

Other general and administrative expenses
Impairment charge for credit losses, net

Release of impairment charge of investments
Tetal operating expenses

Operating income

Share in (loss) / earning of an associate

Net income for the year

Basic and diluted EPS

Notes

20
20

21

22

24

7(b)
6(g)

M
Brarns SawEiary &
Citef Governance Officer

2013 2012
2,095,505 1.719,767
471,793 347.433
1,623,712 1.372.334
732,225 627.705
121,133 117.092
136,399 97.661
3,276 -
(750) 4.555
2,615,995 2,219,347
508,856 474.103
83,899 73.073
96,112 110,741
206,208 188.843
218,497 139,904
. (20.000)
1,113,572 966.664
1,502,423 1.252.683
(817) 300
1,501,606 1.252.983
3.78 3.16

The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consalidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31
Amounts in SAR'000

Mot 013 202
Net income for the year 1,501,606 1,252,983
Other comprelensive income:
Itenss that can be recycled back to consolidated statement
of income in future
Available for sale investments:
- Net change in fair value i8 19,329 4.395
- Transferred to the consolidated statement of income 18 1,796 4.536
21,125 B.93]
Cash flow hedges:

- Transferred to the consolidated statement of income 18 6,355 3519
Total other comprehensive income 27,480 14,450
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,529,086 1.267.433

L-Sudai
Roarg Secrelary &

CnicfGovernance Oificer

The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
For the years ended December 31

Amounts in SAR'000
Dther reserves
Staff share
Available Resenve Proposed baved Total
Share Statutory General Jorsale  Cash flow  for bonus  Retained grovs plun sharehaliders'
Notes  Capitaf reserve Reserve  imvestmients  fiedges shares earnings  dividends  reserve cquity
2043
DBalance at beginning of the
year 3,969,000 2,705,726 130,000 565 (6,355) - LO051,2B6 444,528 11,229 8,305,979
Tolol comprehensive income
for the year - - - 21,125 6,355 - 1,501,606 - - 1,529,086
Staff share based plan
lransactions 30 - - - - - - - - 1,891 10,891
ITanster 1o statstory resene 17 - 375,402 - - - - (378,412) - - -
Proposed bonus shares 16 - - - - T938Mb  (793,300) - - -
Dividends pad - - - - - - - (444,528) - (444,528)
Proposcd pross dividends 26 - - - - - - [(468,342) 68342 - -
Balance at the eod of the year 3,969,000 3,081,128 130,000 21,650 - TYIRO0 915348  J68.342 22,120 9,401,428
012
Balunce at heginning of the
wear 3.307.500 1392 4R0 130,000 {8.366) (11.8M) 661500 556,077 377055 3,950 7408322
Tuotaol comprchensive income
for the year - - - 8931 5.519 - 1.252983 - - 1.267.433
Stall share based plan
Irnsaclions 39 . - . . . B - - 7.279 7379
Transfer Lo siatulory reserve 17 - 313.246 - - - - (313.246) - - -
Bomus shares issucid 61,500 - - - 16615000 - - - -
Dividends paid - - - - - - - (377.05%5) - (377.055)
Proposed gross dividends 26 . - - - - - (H4528) 4528 - -
Baiance a1 the end of the year 35969000 2.705.726 130,080 565 (6.355) - 105128  444.528 11229 R.305979
/

£ Maha Al-Sudairi
. Boari Srciglary & L9
Gile!f Governance Oliicer

The accompanying notes | to 42 form an integral part of these consalidated financial sintements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31

Amounts in SAR'000

Notes
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:
(Accretion of discounts) and amortisation of premium on non-trading investments, net
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Losses / (gains) on non-trading investments, net
Depreciation and amortisation 9
Impairment charge for credit losses, net 7(b)
Share in loss / (earning) of an associate 8
Release of impairment charge of invesiments 6(g)

Staff share based plan transactions

Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets:

Statutery deposit with SAMA

Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing afier
ninety days from the date of acquisition

Investments held as FVIS (including trading investments)
Loans and advances. net

Other assets

Net increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Due to banks and other financial institutions
Customers™ deposils
Other liabilities

Net cash from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale and maturity of non-trading investments

Purchase of non-trading investments

Purchase of property and equipment 9
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Net cash (used in) / from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debt

Repayment of subordinated debt
Dividends paid net of Zakat and income tax recovered from shareholders

Net cash from financing activities

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and eash equivalents at end of the year 27
Special commission received during the vear

Special commission paid during the year

Supplemental non-eash information

Net change in fair value and transfers to consolidated statement of income

/ The accompanying notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

. o/

7

2013 2042
1,501,606 1,252,983
(80,491) (44,880)
(73) L

750 (4,555)

96,112 110.741
218,497 139,904
817 (300)

- {20.000)

10,891 7.279
1,748,109 1.441.172
(196,551) (348,626)
(937,000) .

- IR
(8,594,623) (8.006.505)
(189,032) 82,627
1,019,355 {136.168)
7,961,777 9,224 936
161,167 (78.398)
673,202 2,190.148
8,503,821 15,966,576
(13,866,435) (15,775.362)
(112,147) (110.009)
73 -
(5,474,688) 81.205
2,500,000 1,400,000
(775,000) A
(346,348) (198.450)
1,378,652 1.201,550
(3,422,834) 3.472.903
7,796,044 4.323,141
4,373,210 7.796,044
2,071,901 1,678.131
446,430 306.215
27,480 14.450
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

1

GENERAL

Saudi Hollandi Bank (the "Bank"). is a Saudi Joint Stock Company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and was formed pursuant
to Royal Decree No. M/85 dated 29 Dhul Hijjah 1396H (corresponding to December 21, 1976). The Bank commenced business on 17
Shaaban 1397H (coeresponding to August 3, 1977) when it took over the operations of Algemene Bank Nederland N.V. in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia. The Bank operates under commercial registration No. 1010064925 dated 6 Jumada 11 1407H (corresponding to February 5,
1987} through its 48 branches (December 31. 2012: 45 branches) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The registered address of the Bank's head
office is:

Saudi Hoilandi Bank
Head Office

Al-Dhabab Street

P O Box 1467

Rivadh 11431

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The objective of the Group is to provide a full range of banking and investment services. The Group also provides to its customers Islamic
{non commission based) banking products which are approved and supervised by an independent Sharish Board established by the Bank.

The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group"). The details of these subsidiaries are set out below:

Saudi Hollandi Capital (SHC)

SHC was formed in accordance with the Capital Market Authority's (CMA) Resolution number 1-39-2007 under commercial registration
number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijjah 1428H (corresponding to January 9, 2008) to take over and manage the Group's lnvestment
Services and Asset Management activities regutated by CMA related to dealing, managing, arranging. advising and taking custody of
securities. SHC commenced its operations effective on 2 Rabi'll 1429H (corresponding to April 9, 2008).

Saudi Holiandi Real Estate Coampany (SHREC)

SHREC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct ownership was established under commercial registration number
1010250772 dated 21 Jumada § 1429H {corresponding to May 26, 2008} with the approval of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA).
The Company was formed to register real estate assets under its name which are received by the Bank from its borrowers as collateral.

Snudi Hollandi Ensurance Agency Company (SHIAC)

SHIAC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct ownership was established under commercial registration number 1010300250
dated 29 Muharram 1432H (corresponding to January 4, 2011) with the approval of SAMA. The Company was formed to act as an agent for
Wataniya Insurance Company (WIC), an associate, for sclling its insurance products.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of compliance

The c¢onsolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions promulgated by
SAMA and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The
financial statements are prepared to comply with the Banking Control Law, the provisions of Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s By-Laws,

b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following measured at fair value:

- derivatives which are held at fair value;
- available for sale investments; and

- recopnised financial assets and financial liabilities designated as hedged items in qualifying fair value hedge relationships which are
adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

- liabilities for share based pavments
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

¢} Functionai and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Rivals (SAR), which is the Group's functional currency. Financial
information has been rounded ofF to the nearest thousand. except otherwise indicated .

d) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and linbilities. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Such judgments, estimates, and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of fiture events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances
and obtaining professional advice. Significant areas where management has used estimates. assumptions or exercised judgments are ns
follows:

(i) Impairment for losses on loans and advances

Management reviews its loan portfolio to assess specific and collective impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded, management applies judgement when assessing whether there is any observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for foans with
similar credit nisk charactenstics where objective evidence of impairment exists, The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both
the amount and the timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives, FVIS and available for sale investments at fair value at each balance sheet
date. Fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost and held to maturity investments are disclosed in Note 6(d).

Fair value is the price that would be received to seil an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on (he presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset ot Fiability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participams would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and mintmising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorized within the fair
value hierarchy. described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurving basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(iif) Impairment of available-for-sale equity and debt investments

The Group exercises judgement to consider impairment on the available-for-sale equity and debt investments. This includes determination of
a significant or prolonged decline in the fhir value below its cost. In assessing whether it is significant, the decline in fair value is evaluated
against the original cost of the asset at initial recognition. In assessing whether it is protonged, the decline is evaluated against the period in
which the fair value of the asset has been below its original cost at initial recognition. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among
other factors, the normal volatility in share/debt price. deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance,
changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

(iv) Classification of held-to-maturity investments

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 in classifving non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity as held-to-maturity, In making this judgement, management evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.
If the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than in certain specific circumstances - for example, selling close to maturity or
an insignificant amount- it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale investments.

(v} Determination of control over investees

The control indicators as set out in note 3 (a) are subject 10 management’s judgement that can have a significant effect in the case of the
Group's interests in investments funds.

Investment funds

The Group acts as Fund Manager to a number of investment funds. Determining whether the group controls such an investment fund usually
focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the Group in the Fund (comprising any carried interests and expected
management fees) and the investors rights to remove the Fund Manager. As a result the Group has concluded that it acts as an agent for the
investors in all cases, and therefore has not conselidated these funds.

e) Going concern

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to
continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on
the going concern basis.

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The sigrificant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Change in accounting policies

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 except for the adoption of the following new standards and other
amendments to existing standards which has had an insignificant effect/no financial impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group on the current year or prior vear and is expected fo have an insignificant effect in future years:

(i) New standards

- IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements: IFRS 10 replaces the requirements previously contained in !IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. The Standard introduces a single consolidation
model for all entities based on control, irrespective of the nature of the investee (i.e. whether an entity is controlied through voting
rights of investors or through other contractual arrangements as is common in "special purpose entities’).

- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Requires the extensive disclosure of information that enables users of financial
statements to evaluate the nature of. and risks associated with, interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on its
financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

- IFRS 13 Fair value measurements: The IFRS defines fair valve, provides guidance on how to determine fair value and requires
disclosures about fair value measurements. However, IFRS 13 does not change the requirements regarding which items should be
measured or disclosed at farr value, Additional disclosures wherever required, are provided in the relevant notes refating o the assets
and liabilities whose fair values have been determined. Fair value hierarchy is provided in Note 33.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(i) Amendments to existing standards

Amendments to 1AS 1 Presentation of financial statements: amends 1AS 1 to revise the way other comprehensive income is presented.

Amendments to [FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure: Amends the disclosure requirements in [FRS 7 to require information
about all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with paragraph 42 of 1AS 32 and also require disclosure of
information about recognised financial instruments subject to enforceable master neiting arrangements and agteements even if they
are not set off under 1AS 32.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits — Amendments: The amendments to IAS 19 remove the option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses, i.c., the corridor mechanism, All chanpes in the value of defined benefit plans will be recognised in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

1AS 27 Separate Financial Statements (2011): Now only deals with the requirements for separate financial statements, which have
been carried over largely unamended from IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Requirements for consolidated
financial statements are now contained in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.

TIAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (201 1); The majority of these revisions result from the incorporation of Joint
ventures into IAS 28 (2011) and the findamental approach to accounting for equity accounted investments has not changed.

The 1ASB has published Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2009-2011 cycle of improvements that contain amendments to the
following standards with consequential amendments to other standards:

- IFRS 1 - First time adoption of IFRS: Repeated application of IFRS | and borrowing cost exemption;

- IAS 1 — Presentation of financial statements: Comparative information beyond minimum requirements and presentation of
the opening statement of financial position and related notes:

- IAS 16 — Property. plant and equipment: Classification of servicing equipment;

= IAS 34 — Interim Financial Reporting: Segment assets and liabilities.

The Group has adopted the above new standards and amendments as applicable.

a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Saudi Hollandi Bank and its subsidiaries drawn up to
December 31 of each year, The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Bank and
changes have been made to their accounting policies where necessary to align them with the accounting policies of the Bank.

Subsidiarics are investees controlled by the Group, The Group controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the invesiee. The financial siatements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year, if any, are included in the consolidated income statement from the date of
the acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform
accounting policies and valuation methods for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances,

Specifically. the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

- Exposure. or rights. to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary,

When necessary. adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and Habilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses
control over a subsidiary. it:

- Derecognises the assets (including goodwill, if any) and liabilities of the subsidiary

- Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests

- Derecognises the cumulative transtation differences recorded in equity

- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received

- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained

- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

- Reclassifies the parent’s share of companents previously recognised in OCl to profit or loss or retained eamings, as appropriate, as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities,

b) Investments in associates

lnvestments in associates are initrally recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for under the equity method of accounting based on
annual audited or latest available reviewed financial statements. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence (but
not control), over financial and operating policies and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Investments in associates are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assels, less any impairment
in the value of individual investments. The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income. and its share of post-acquisition movements in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
associates. The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of associate’s operations. When there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate. the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses it in the consolidated
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity,

The Group’s share of profit / loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of income. This is the profit / (loss)
attributable to equity holders of the associate and, therefore. is profit / foss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the
associate. The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary. adjustments are
made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on its
investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the associate and its carrying vatue and recognises the amount in the ‘share of earning of an associate’ in the consolidated statement of
income,

¢) Trade date accounting

Ali "regular-way' purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the assets. 'Regular-way' purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

d) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial mstruments. including foreign exchange contracts, commission rate futures. forward rate agreements, currency and
commission rate swaps, currency and commission rate options (both written and purchased) are iitially recognised at fair value on the date
on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of fnancial
position with transaction costs recognised in the consolidated statement of income. All derivatives are carried at their fair value as assets
where the fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is negative. Fair values are derived by reference to quoted market prices,
applying discounted cash flow models and pricing models as appropriate.

The treatment of changes in their fair value depends on their classification into the following categories:

i) Derivatives held for trading

Any changes i the fair vaiue of derivatives held for trading are taken directly to the consolidated statement of income and disclosed in net
trading income. Derivatives held for trading alse include those derivatives which do not qualify for hedge accounting including embedded
derivaiives,

ii} Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at
fair value through statement of income (FVIS). Embedded derivatives separated from the host contracts are carried at fair value in the trading
portfolio with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

iff) Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships as described below.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a) feir value hedges that hedge the exposure to changes in the
fair value of a recognised asset or liability {or assets or liabilities in case of portfolio hedging) or an unrecognised firm commitment or an
identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment, that is attributable (o a particular risk and could affect the reported net gain
or losses: and (b} cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated
with a recognised asset or linbility or to a highly probable forecasted transaction that affects the reported net gains or loss,

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, hedge should be expected to be highly effective, i.e. changes in the fair value or cash flows of the
hedging instruments should effectively offset corresponding changes in the hedged item. and should be reliably measurable. At inception of
the hedge. the risk management objective and strategy is documented including the identification of the hedging instrument, the related
hedged item. the nature of risk being hedged, and how management will assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Subsequently
hiedges are assessed for effectiveness on an on-going basis.

Fuair Value Hedges

When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument in a fair value hedge relationship, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging
instrument to fair value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income together with the change in the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk

Where the fair value hedge of a commission bearing hedged item measured at amortized cost ceases to meet the criteria for hedge accounting
or is sold. exercised or terminated, the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the face value is
amortised over the remaining term of the original hedge using the effective commission rate. If the hedged itern is derecognised, the
unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income.

Cash Flow Hedges

When a denvative is designated as an hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge relationship, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument that is determined to be effective is recognised directly in consolidated other comprehensive income whereas the ineffective
pottion, if any, is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. For cash flow hedges affecting future transactions, the fair value pains
or lasses recognised in other reserves are transferred to the consolidated statement of income in the same period in which the hedged items
affects the consolidated statement of income
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Where the hedged forecasted transaction resuits in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the associated gain or Ioss that had
previously been recognised directly in consolidated other comprehensive income are included in the initial messurement of the acquisition
cost or other carrying amount at the time such asset or lability is recognised. When the hedging instrument is expired or sold, terminated or
exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur or the Group revokes the
designation, any cumulative gain or loss on the cash flow hedging instrument that was recognised in consolidated other comprehensive
ncome is retained until the forecasted transaction occurs. Where the hedged forecasted transaction is no longer expected 1o occur, the net
cumulative pain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is transferred to the consolidated statement of
income for the year.

¢) Foreign currencies

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyals, which is also the Group’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Seudi Arabian Rivals at the spot rates prevailing at transaction dates, Monetary assets
and liabilities a1 vear-end. denominated in foreign currencies. are translated into Saudi Arabian Rivals at the spot rates prevailing at the
reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the
beginning of the year adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the year All differences arising on non-trading activities are taken to other non operating income in the
consolidated statement of income, with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide an effective hedge against a
net investment in foreign entity

Foreign exchange gains or losses from sertlement of transactions and translation of period end monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of income, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available for
sale equity instruments or when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges. Translation gains or losses on non-monetary items carried at foir value are included as part of the fair value adjustment either in the
consolidated statement of income or in other comprehensive income depending on the underiying financial asset,

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are transtated using the exchange rates as at the dntes
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value is determined.

f) Ofisetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and when the Group intends to settle on a nel basis. or to realise the asset and settie the
linbility simultaneously.

Income and expenses are not offset in the consolidated statement of income unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or
interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

g) Revenue/ expense recognition

i) Special commission income and expenses

Special commission income and expenses for all commission-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for rading or
at fair value through income statement (FVIS), are recognised in the consolidated statement of income using cffective commission rate. The
effective commission rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating
the effective commission rate. the Group estimates future cash fiows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but
excluding futre credit Insses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The
adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective commission rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as
special commission income or expense.

Subsequent to the recognition of an impairment loss on a financtal asset or a group of financial assets, commission income continues to be
recognised on the effective commission rate basis. on the asset’s carrying value net of impairment provisions.
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The calculation of the effective commission rate takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instruments {prepayment, options
elc.) and includes all fees and points paid or received, transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective
commission tate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition. issue or disposal of a financial asset
or a liability.

ii) Exchange inconie / loss

Exchange income/loss is recognised when eamed/incurred, as discussed in the foreign currencies policy above.

ifi) Fee and commission income

Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective commission rate are included in the measurement of the refevant assets. Fees
and commission income that are not intepral part of the effective commission rate calculation on a financial asset or liability are recognised
when the related service 1s provided as follows:

= Portfolio and other management advisory and service fecs are recognised over the period of applicable service contracts usually on
lime proportionate basis

* Fee received on asset management, wealth management, financial planning, custody services and other similar services that are
provided over an extended period of time, are recognised over the period when the services are being provided.

* Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any
incremental costs) and recopnised as an adjustment to the effective commission rate on the lsan. When a loan commitment is not
expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment
period

* Fee and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees and are expensed as the services are received and are
disclosed net of the related fee and commission income.

iv} Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established. Dividends are reflected as a component of net trading
income. net income from FVIS financial instruments or other operating income based on the classification of the related eguity instrument.

v) Net trading income / (loss)

Results arising from trading activities include all realised and unrealised gains and losses from changes in fair value and related special
commission income or expense, dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and foreign exchange differences. This
includes any ineffectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.

h} Day one profit

Wiere the transaction price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets. the Group immediately recognises the difference between the
transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day one’ profit) in the consolidated statement of income in ‘Net trading income’. In cases where use is
made of data which is not observable. the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognised in the consolidated
statement of income when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

i) Sale and repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified firture date (repos) continue to be recognised in the consolidated
stalement of financial position as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, These assets are continued to
measure in accordance with related accounting policies for investments held as FVIS, available for sale, held to maturity and other
invesiments held at amortized cost. The transactions are treated as collateratised borrowing and counter-party liability for amounts received
under these agreements 1s inctuded in “Due to banks and other financial institutions™ or “Customer deposits”, as appropriate.

The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as special commission expense and accrued over the life of the repo agreement on
an effective commission rate basis. Assets purchased with a comesponding commitment to resetl at a specified future date (reverse repo) are
not recogmised in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain control over the assets. Amounts paid under
these agreements are inciuded in “Cash and balances with SAMA™, “Due from banks and other financial institutions” or “Loans and
advances”. as appropriate. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as special commission income and accrued over the life
of the reverse repo agreement on an effective commission rate basis,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

i) Investments
Initial recognition

All investment securities are initially recognised at fair value, plus for investments not held as FVIS, incremental direct transaction costs and
are subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as either held to maturity, FVIS, available for sale or other investments held
at amortised cost. Premiums arc amortised and discounts accreted using the effective commission rate basis and are taken to special
commission income.,

Determination of Fair value

For securities traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference 1o quoted market bid prices at the close of business
Fair value of managed assets and investments in mutual futds are determined by reference to declased net asset values which approximate the
fair value

For securities where there 1s no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially the same, or is based on the expected cash flows or the underlying net asset base of the
security. Where thie fair values cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation technigues that include
the use of mathemarical models.

Reclassification

Investments at FVIS are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except that non-derivative FVIS instrument, other than those
destgnated as FVIS upon initial recognition (i.e. trading investments), may be reclassified out of the FVIS category if thev are no longer held
for the purpose of being sold or repurchased tn the near term, and the following conditions are met:

- If the investments would have met the definition of "held at amartised cost” and had not been required to be classified as held for
trading at initial recognition, these may be reclassified if the Group has the intention and ability to hold the investments for the
foreseeable fiture or until maturity.

- Ifthe investments would not have met the definition of held at amortised cost, and then it is reclassified out of the trading category
only in ‘rare circumstances’.

A security held as available for sale may be reclassified to “Other investments held at amortised cost™ if it otherwise would have met the
definition of “Other investments held at amortised cost™ and if the Group has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the
foresecable future or until maturity.

Subsequent measurement
The investments under each class are accounted for and presented using the basis set out in the following paragraphs:

i) Held as FVIS

lavestments in this category are classified if they are held for trading or designnted by management as FVIS on initial recognition.
Investments classified as trading are acquired principally for the purpose of sefling or repurchasing in the short term and are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fitir value ore recognized in net trading income / loss.

An investment may be designated at FVIS by the management. at initial recognition if doing so significantly reduces measurement
inconsistencies which would otherwise arise except for equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair
values cannot be reliably measured.

Investments at FVIS are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recopnised in
the consolidated statement of income for the year in which it arises. Special commission income and dividend income on financial assets held
as FVIS are reflected as cither trading income or income from FVIS financial instruments in the consolidated statement of income.

ii} Available for sale

Available-for-sale investments (AFS) are those equity and debt securities which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as
FVIS. that are intended to be held for an unspecified period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in
special commission rates, exchange rates or equity prices. AFS are non-derivative investments that are designated as AFS or not classified as
another category of financial assets.
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Investments which are classified as AFS are initintly recognised nt fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and
subsequentiv measured at fair value except for unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost,
Unrealised gans or losses arising from a change in its fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is de-
recognised. recognised or impaired whereupon any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to consolidated statement of income.

iif} Held to marurity

Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity
(HTM) are classified as held to maturity. Held to maturity investments are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost, tess provision for impairment in value. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition using an effective commission rate method. Any gain or loss on such investments is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the investment is derecognised or impaired.

Investments classified as held to maturity cannot ordinarily be sold or reclassified without impacting the Group’s ability to use this
classification and cannot be designated as a hedged item with respect to commission rate or prepayment risk, reflecting the longer-term nature
of these investments.

However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances wonld not impact the Group's ability to use this classification;

* Sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that the changes in market rate of commission would not have a significant
effect on the fair value;

= Sales or reclassifications after the Group has collected substantially all the assets™ original principal; and

* Sales or reclassifications attributable to non recurring isolated events beyond the Group’s control that could not have been
reasonably anticipated.

iv) Other investments held at amortised cost

tnvestment securities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as Other investments held at
amortised cost (O). Such investments whose fair values have not been hedged are stated at amortised cost using effective commission rate
method basis. less provision for impairment. Any gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the investment is
derecognised or impaired.

k) Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets originated or acquired by the Group with fixed or determinable payments. Loans and
advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are derecognised when either the borrower repays the abligations, the
loans are written off or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred.

All toans and advances are initially measured at fair value, including acquisition charges associated with the loans and advances.

Loans and advances originated or acquired by the Group that are not quoted in an active market and for which fair value has not been hedged.
are stated at amortised cost less any amount written off and impairment for credit losses. For loans and advances which are hedged, the
reiated portion of the hedged fair value is adjusted against the carrying amount.

I) Impairment of financial assets

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets may be impaired. If such evidence exists, the net present value of future anticipated cash flows from that asset is determined and any
impairment loss, is recognised for changes in its carrying amounts.

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held to maturity investments at both a specific asset and collective
level.

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowances for impairment either directly or by a charge to the
consolidated statement of income. Financial assets are written off only in circumstances where effectively all possible means of recovery have
been exhausted. and the amount of the loss has been determined.

IfZ in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring afier
the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
by adyusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in impairment charge
for credit losses
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Loans whaose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered 1o be past due but are treated as new loans. Restructuring policies and
practices are based on indicators or criteria, which indicate that payment wilt most likely continue. The loans continue to be subject to an
individual ot collective impairment assessment. calculated using the loan’s original effective commission rate.

Loans and advances are generally renegotiated either as part of an ongoing customer relationship or in response to an adverse change in the
circumstances of the borrower. In the latter case, renegotiation can result in an extension of the due date of payment or repayment plans under
which the Group offers a revised rate of commission to genuinely distressed borrowers, This results in the asset continuing to be overdue and
individually impaired as the renegotiated payments of commission and principal do not recover the original carrying amount of the loan. In
other cases, renegotiation lead to a new agreement, this is treated as a new loan. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators
or criteria which, indicate that payment will most likely continue. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment
assessmenlt, calculated using the loan’s original effective commission rate.

(i} Impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost

A financial asset or group of financial assets is classified as impaired when there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset or group of financial assets and that a loss event(s) has ap impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial nssets that can be reliably estimated.

A specific allowance for credit losses due to impairment of a loan or any other financial asset held at amortised cost is established if there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due, The amount of the specific allowances is the difference between
the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount is the present value of expected future cash
flows, including amounts estimated to be recoverable from guarantees and collateral. discounted based on the original effective commission
rate.

(i) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale. Management assesses individuatly whether there is objective evidence of
tmpairment based on the same criterin as financial assets carried al amortised cost. However. the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income,

If. in a subsequent period. the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to a credit event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of income. the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated
statement of income.

For equity investments held as avaflable for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below its cost represents objective evidence
of impairment, The impairment loss cannot be reversed through the consolidated statement of income as long as the asset continues to be
recognised i e. any incrense in fair value afler impairment has been recorded can only be recognised in the consolidated statement of changes
in shareholders™ equity. On derecognition. any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the consolidated shareholders’ equity is
included in the consolidated statement of income for the vear.

m) Other real estate

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, acquires certain real estate against settlement of due foans and advances. Such real estate are
considered as assets held for sale and are initially stated at the lower of net realisable value of due loans and advances and the current fair
value of the related properties, less any costs to sell (if material). No depreciation is charpged on such real estate. Renlal income from other
real estate is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Subsequent fo initial recognition. any subsequent write down to fair value, less costs to sell, are charged to the consolidated income

statement. Any subsequent revaluation gain in the fair value less costs to sell of these assets o the extent this does not exceed the cumulative
write down is recognised in the income statement. Gains or losses on disposal are recognised in the income statement.
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n) Impairment of non—financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s or cash-gencrating units (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset or
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash Aows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value
indicators.

For assets excluding goodwill, if any. an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU's
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been g change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recopnised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of
the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount. nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had
no ympairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversat is recognised in the income statement.

o) Property and equipment

Property and equipmeni are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumuiated impairment loss. Freehold land is not
depreciated. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The cost of other property and equipment is depreciated / amortised on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows

Buildings 33 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of lease period or 10 vears
Fumituie and fixtures. computer hardware and software

and motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed. and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrving amount. These are included in the consolidated statement
of income.

All assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverabie. Any carying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than ils
estimated recoverable amount.

p) Financial Liabilities

All money market deposits, customer deposits, subordinated debts and other debt securities in issue are initially recognised at fair value less
transaction costs. Financial liabilities at FVIS are recognised initially at fair value and transaction costs are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of income. Subsequently alt commission-bearing financial liabilities other than those held at FVIS or where fair values have been
hedged are measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking inte account any discount or premium. Premiums are amortised
and discounts accreted on an effective commission rate method to maturity and taken 1o special commission expense.

Fnancal hiabilities are designated as FVIS on initial recognition if doing so significantly reduces measurement inconsistencies which would
otherwise anse. After initial recognition these linbilities are measured at fair value and the resulting gain or loss is included in the
consolidated statement of income.

Financial liabilities in an effective fair value hedge relationship are adjusted for fair value changes to the extent of the risk being hedged. The
resultant gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. For financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, any gain or loss
15 recognised in the consolidated statement of income when derecognised
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q) Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially
recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value in other liabilities, being the vatue of the premium received. Subsequent (o
the initial recognition, the Group's liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the unamortised premium and the best estimate
of expenditure required to settle any financial obligations arising as a result of guarantees. Any increase in the liability relating to the
financial guarantee is taken to the consolidated statement of income in “impairment charge for credit losses, net". The premium received is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income in "fees and commission income, net" on a straight line basis over the life of the
guarantee.

r} Provisions

Provisions ate recognised when management can reliably estimate a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is
more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.

§) Accounting for leases

Leases entered into by the Group as a lessee are all operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the consolidated
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired. any penalty required to be paid to the lessor is recognised as an
expense n the period in which tenmination takes place.

t) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, “cash and cash equivalents™ include notes and coins on hand, balances with
SAMA excluding statutory deposit. and due from banks and other financial institutions with original maturity of three months or less which
are subject 10 insignificant risk of changes in their fair value.

u} Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial assct (or. where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is de-recognized when:

- The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a *pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially al] the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b} the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. Continuing
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the onginal carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group couid be required to repay.

A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) can only be derecognised when it is extinguished, that is when the obligation specified in
the contract is either discharged, cancelled or expires.

v) Staff Share based plan transactions

The Group's share plan is classified as an equity settled plan. The fair valuz of shares which the Group expects will eventually vest is
determined at the grant date and is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period with corresponding increase in staff share based
plan reserve. Details regarding the plan and determination of the fair value are set out in Note 39,

At each reporting date, management revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in the consolidated statement of income over the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding
adjustment to the staff share base plan reserve,

w) End of service benefits

The liabiluty for employees’ end of service benefits is determined based on an actuarial valuation conducted by an independent actuary. The
actuarial valuation process takes into account the provisions of the Saudi Arabian Labour and Workmen law.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

x) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are measured on a undiscounted basis and is expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or profit sharing plans if Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obtigation can be estimated reliabiy,

y) Zakat and income tax

Under Sandi Arabian Zakat and Income tax laws, Zakat and income taxes are the liabilities of Saudi and foreign shareholders, respectively.
Zakat is computed on the Saudi shareholders’ share of equity or net income using the basis defined under the Zakat regulations. Income taxes
are computed on the foreipn shareholders share of net income for the year.

Zakat and income taxes are not charged to the Group's consolidated statement of income and are deducted from cusrent and future dividends
pavable to shareholders.

z) Investment management services

The Group offers investment services to its customers through its subsidiary SHC. The services include the management of certain investment
funds in consultation with professional investment advisors. The Group’s share of these funds is included in FVIS or available-for-sale
investments and fees earned are disclosed under related parties' transactions.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in the consolidated
financial statements,

aa) Non-commission based banking preducts

in addition to conventionat banking, the Group also offers its customers certain non-commission based banking products, which are approved
by its independent Shariah Board, as follows:

High level definitions of nor-commission based products

(i) Murabaha is an agreement whereby the Group sells to a customer a commodity or an asset. which the Group has purchased and acquired
based on a promise received from the customer to buy. The selling price comprises the cost plus an agreed profit margin.

(i) Ifarah is an agreement whereby the Group, acting as a lessor. purchases or constructs an asset for lease according to the customer request
(lessee), based on his promise to lease the asset for an agreed rent and specific period that could end by transferring the ownership of the
leased asset to the lessee.

(111) Musharaka 15 an agreement between the Group and a customer to contribute to a certain investment enterprise or the ownership of a
certain propeniy ending up with the acquisition by the customer of the full ownership. The profit or loss is shared as per the terms of the
agreement

(iv) Tawarug is a form of Murabaha transactions where the Group purchases a commodity and sells it to the customer. The customer sells the
underlying commodity at spat and uses the proceeds for his financing requirements.

All non-commission based banking products are included in “loans and advances™ and are in conformity with the related accounting policies
described in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Amounts in SAR’000
CASH AND BALANCES WITH SAMA

Cash 1n hand

Statutory depostt

Current accounts

Reverse repo with SAMA

Total

2013 2042
390,803 395,250
3,103,679 2,607,128
177,061 298,120
2,990,97% 6,261,957
6,662,522 9,562,455

In accordance with the requirements of the Banking Control Law and Regulations issued by SAMA, the Group is required to maintain a statutory deposit
with SAMA ot stipulated percentages of its demand, savings, time and other deposits, calculated at the end of each month. The statutory deposits with
SAMA is not available to finance the Group's day-to-day operations and therefore does not form part of cash and cash equivalents.

DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Current accounts
Money market placements

Total

INVESTMENTS, NET

a} Investment securities nre classified as follows:

i) Availuble- for- sale, net

Fixed rate securities
Floating rate securities
Mutuat funds

Equities

Total available-for-safe, net

Equities reported under available for sale investments include unquoted shares of SAR 3.4 million (2012;

2013 2012
804,827 840,717
946,540 -
1,751,367 840,717

Domestic International Total
2013 2042 2013 2042 2013 2012
51,850 70,430 - - 51,850 70,430
168,000 30,000 - 93,765 168,000 123,765
52,031 42,104 - - 52,031 42,104
250,714 4,188 - - 259,714 4,188
531,595 146,722 - 93,765 531,595 240,487

opinion of management the fair value approximates the investments’ carrying value,

if) Other investments held at amortised cost

Fixed rate securities
Floating rate secunities

Total other investments held at amortised cost

i} Held to maturity

Fixed rate securities
Floating rate securities

Total held to maturity

Total investments, net

SAR 4.2 miifion) that are carried at cost. In the

Domestic International Total
2013 2012 2013 2042 2013 2012
13,488,239 8,883,220 1,241,612 £,059,581 14,729,851 9942 810
1,094,876 657,011 397,011 432 814 1,491,887 1,089,825
14,583,115 9,540,230 1,638,623 1,492,395 16,221,738 11,032,635

Domestic International Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2042
35,821 45445 - - 35,821 45,445
- - 60,008 60,010 60,008 60,010
35,821 45 445 60,008 60,010 95,829 105,455
15,150,531 9,732,407 1,698,631 1,646,170 16,819,162 11,378,577




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR000

b} Investments reclassification

Management 1dentified certain AFS investments. for which at July 1, 2008, it had a clear intention to hold the instruments for the foreseeable future rather
than to exit or trade in the short term. As a result, these instruments were reclassified at that date from AFS to other investments held at amortised cost at fair
value. Had the reclassificanion not been made, other reserves would have included unrealised fair value gains amounting to SAR 5.6 million (2012; Losses of
SAR 2 million) and shareholders® equity would have been higher / (lower) by the same amount.

The following table shows carrying values and fair values of the rectassified investments:

2013 202
Corrving value Eair value Carving vplue Yair value
AFS securities reclassified 1o Ol 146,482 142,457 144,590 135,172

Further, with effect from July 20, 2011, the Group reclassified centain trading investments amounting to SAR 17.5 million to O, as it no longer had the
intention to hold these investments for the purpose of selling in the short term. The Group has the intention and ability to hold these reclassified investments
for the foreseeable future or until matunty. Had the reclassification not been made, there would have been no significant impact on the consolidated
statement of income as the fair value approximates the carrying value as at December 31, 2013 and 2012. The canying value of these investments as at
December 31, 2013 amounted to SAR 0.5 million (December 31, 2012: SAR 9.8 million).

¢) The composition of investments is as follows:

2013 2012
Quoted Ungquoted Total Ouored Unguoted Tatal
Fixed rate secunties 1,508,437 13,309,085 14,817,522 1,368,378 8,690,307 10,058,685
Floating rate secunties 1,251,895 468,000 1,719,895 1,273,600 - 1,273,600
Mutual funds 52,031 - 52,031 432,104 - 42,104
Equities 256,276 3,438 259,714 - 4,188 4,188
Total investments, net 3,068,639 13,780,523 16,849,162 2,684,082 8,694,495 11,378,577

Unquoted secunities principally comprise of treasury bills and other Saudi Government Bonds. Such securities are traded in the inter-bank market within
Saudi Ambia and values are determined using an appropriate pricing model.

d) The analysis of unrealised gains and losses and air values of other investments held at amortised cost and held to maturity, are as follows:

2013 2012
Gross Gross (Gmss Gruss
Carrying unrealised unrealised Fair Carrying unrealised unrcalised Fair
value gai Inssex valur vaine rains [osses vaine
i) Other investments
held at amortised cost
Fixed-rate securities 14,729,851 +4,047 (64,906) 14,708,992 9,942 810 76,266 (20,793) 9,998,283
Floating rate securtties 1,491,887 8,601 (4,033) 1,496,455 1,089,825 11,340 (9,440} 1,091,725
Total 16,221,738 52,648 (68,939) 16,205,447 11,032,635 87,606 (30,233) 11,090,008
2013 2012
Gross Gross (Fross (ross
Carrying unrealised anrealised Fair Carrying unrealiscd unrealtsed Fair
value Lins losses vielue value ains losses value
if) Held 1o maturity
Fixed-rate securities 35,821 2,783 - 38,574 45,445 4471 - 49,916
Floatnyg rate securities 60,008 - (2,724) 57,284 60,010 - (5.972) 54,038
‘Total 95,829 2,753 {2,724) 95,858 105,455 4471 (5,972) 103,954
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Amounts in SAR000
e) The analysis of investments by counter party is as follows:

2013 2012
Government and quasi-government 13,748,486 9,320,666
Corporates 1,334,965 902,517
Banks and other financial institutions 1,710,242 1,109,102
Others 55,469 46,292
Total investments, net 16,849,162 11,378,577

Other investments held at amortized cost amounting to SAR 3,350 million (2012: SAR 3,690 million) are pledged under repurchase ngreements with
customers The market value of these investments is SAR 3,345 million (2012: SAR 3,666 million).

f) Credit risk exposures of investments

2043 2012
Saud: Sovereign bonds 11,849,560 8,240,306
Investments prade 4,376,903 2,874 979
Unrated 622,699 263,292
Total investments, net 16,849,162 11,378,577

Investment prade tncludes those investments having an extemal agency ratings of AAA to BBB-, Where specific bonds are not rated, but the issver of the
bond has been rated, issuer ratings have been used. Bonds falling in 1o this category amount to SAR 1,936.03 million (2012: SAR 907 82 million)

g) Release of impairment charge of investments
Impairment allowance apainst Ol investments amounting to SAR 20 million was released during 2012,
LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET

a) Loans and advances held at amortised cost

Credit Consumer  Commervial
2813 raf Cards loans loans Tatal
Performing foans and advances-gross 2,189,802 249,392 8,066,492 43,600,583 54,106,269
Non performing loans and advances, net 336,080 4,879 46,836 350,824 738,619
Total loans and advances 2,525,882 254,271 3.113.328 43,951,407 54,844,888
Allowances for impaimment of credit losses (521,815) (11,326) (62,822) (596,600) (1,192,563)
Total loans and advances, net 2,004,067 242,945 8,050,506 43,354,807 53,652,325

Credut Consumer  Commercial
2002 Overdraft Cards Loans loans Totai
Perfarming loans and advances-gross 2,574,597 235,638 5,176,167 37,671,23¢ 45,657,633
Non performing loans and advances, net 333,184 9,034 37,646 342,251 722,115
Total loans and advances 2,907,781 244,672 5213813 38,013,482 46,379,748
Allowances for impairment of credit losses (642,383) (11,326) (56,942) (392,898)  (1,103,549)
Total loans and advances, net 2,265,398 233,346 5,156,871 37,620,584 45,276,199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

b) Movements in allowances for impairment of credit lasses

Credit Consumer  Commercial
2013 Overdealt Cards Loans loans Total
Balance at beginning of the year 642,383 11,326 56,942 392,898 1,103,549
Provided during the year B1,738 16,774 66,620 238,933 404,065
Bad debts written off (91,890) {6,501) (31,092) - (129,483)
Recovertes of amounts previously provided (110,416) (10,273) (29,648) (35,231) (185,568)
Balance at the end of the year 521,815 ) 11,326 62,822 596,600 1,192,563

Credit Consumer Commercial

Overdraft Cards Loans loans Toial

2012
Balance at beginning of the vear 608,540 11,326 38,722 411,060 1,069,648
Provided during the vear 184 410 21,125 74,256 54,595 334,386
Bad debts wriiten off (67,366) (13,170) {25467) - (106,003)
Recoveries of amounts previously provided (83,200} {7.,955) (30,569} (72,757 (194,482)
Balance at the end of the vear 642,383 11,326 56,942 302 808 1,103,549

¢} Credit quality of loans and advances
i) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The Group has categonised the loans and advances partfolio that is neither past due nor impaired into three sub categories according to its internal rating
svsiem, i.e, strong, satisfactory and watch

Loans and advances under the Strong cetegory are performing, have sound fundamental charactenistics and include those that exhibit neither current nor
potential weaknesses.

Loans and advance under the Satisfactary category are of sufficient quality to mest its financial obligations in the medium term, but could be impacted by
adverse business or economic cenditions

The Waich category includes loans and advances that are performing, current and up to date in terms of principal and special commission payments.
However, they require close management atiention as they may have potential wenknesses that could, at some future date, result in the deteriortion of the
repavment prospects of either the principal or the special commission. Loans and advances in the waich category are not expected to expose the Group to
high enough level of nisk ta warrant a worse classification,

Credit Consumer  Commervcial
2013 Overdralt Cards, Loans loans Total
Strong 742,008 225809 7,991,544 23,579,152 32,538,513
Satisfactioe 1,348,061 14,773 15,084 19,383,338 20,761,256
Watch 70,224 1,654 12,608 380,845 465,331
Total 2,160,293 242,236 8,019,236 43,343,335 53,765,11)0
Credit Consumer  Commercial
2042 Overdraft Cards Loans loans Total
Strong 1,135,773 211,087 5,103,446 20,090,390 26,540,695
Satisfaciory 1,355,124 16,310 9,873 17,201,793 18,583,100
Waich 37,533 1,812 16,930 320,152 376,427
Total 2,528,430 229,209 5,130,249 37,612,335 45,500,223
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

ii} Ageing of past due but not impaired loans and advances

Credit Consumer  Commerciai
2013 Overdrafi Cards Lonns loans Toial
From 1 doy to 30 days 21,523 4,831 33315 111,839 171,508
From 31 days to 90 davs 3,456 2,325 13,941 117,378 137,100
From 91 days to 180 days 4,530 - - - 4,530
More than 180 days - - - 28,031 28,031
Total 29,509 7,156 47,256 257,248 341,169

Credit Consumer Commercial
2042 Overdraf Cards Loans loans Total
From 1 day to 30 days 29184 3,543 20,277 9,999 63,003
From 31 days to 90 davs 10,756 21,886 25,641 48,807 88,180
From 91 days to 180 days 6,227 - - - 6,227
Total 46,167 6,429 45918 58,896 157,410
d)} Econamic sector risk concentration for loans and advances and allowances for impairment are as follows:

Allowances
Non for Loans and

2013 in performing  impairment advances, net
Geovernment and quasi-government 1,535,354 - - 1,535,354
Banks and other financial institutions 2,723,433 - - 2,723,433
Agriculture and fishing 214,817 - - 914,817
Manufactering 9,445,016 99,701 (99,701) 9,445,016
Mining and quarrying 290,965 - - 290,965
Electricity. water. gas and health services 1,872,189 8,300 {(8,300) 1,872,189
Building and construction 6,076,752 231,321 (231,321) 6,076,752
Commerce 14,943,638 275,291 (275,201) 14,943,638
Transportation and communication 768,524 7,800 (7,800) 768,524
Services 4,166,079 2,495 (2,495) 4,166,079
Consumer loans and credit cards 8,315,884 51,715 (51,715) 8,315,884
Chhers 3,053,618 61,996 (52,983) 3,062,631

54,106,269 738,619 (729,606) 54,115,282
Portfolio impairment allowance - - (462,957) (462,957)
Total 54,106,269 738,619  (1,192,563) 53,652,325
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 20]2
Amounts in SAR000

3,277
Non Alowances Loans and

2012 Pesforming  performing  for impairment  advances, net
Government and quasi-government 1,368,093 - - 1,368,093
Banks and other financial institutions 1,227,766 - - 1,227,766
Agriculture and fishing 474,081 21,488 (21,488) 474,081
Manufaciuring 8,583,687 72,228 (72,228) 8,583,687
Mining and quarrving 284,984 - - 284,984
Electricity, water, gas and health services 1,958,132 8,300 (8,300) 1,958,132
Building and construction 5,795,073 129,487 (129,487) 5,795,073
Commerce 13,372,435 369,069 (369,069) 13,372,435
Transportation and commtumecation 735,580 - - 735,580
Services 3,239,010 7,787 (7.787) 3,235.0{0
Consumer loans and credit cards 5,411,805 46,680 (54,280) 5404,205
Cthers 3,206,987 67,076 (64,910) 3,209,153

45,657,633 722,115 (727.549) 45,652,199
Portfolio impaitment zllowance - - (376,000) {376,000)
Total 45,657,633 722,115 (1,103,549) 45,276,199

The Group has master netting arrangements with certain customers, whers there is a legal right and an intention to settle on a net basis, At December 31,
2013, loans and advances and customers’ deposits amounted to SAR 411.05 million (2012; 350.39 million} have been netted off under these arrangements.

Loans and advances, include Islamic products amounting to SAR 24.32 biflion (2012: SAR 20,30 billion)

e} Collateral

The Group. in the ordinary course of its lending activities holds collateral to mitigate the associated credit risk. These mostly consists of time, demand and
other cash deposits, financial guarantees, local and international equities, real estate and other fixed assets. Collateral is mainly held against commercial and
consumer loans and 15 managed against relevant exposures at its net realisable value

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2013 2012
Balance at beginning of the year 18,050 17,750
Share in (loss) / earming (817) 300
Balance at end of the year 17,233 18,050

[nvestment in an associate represents a 20%a (December 31, 2012 20%) shareholding in Wataniya Insurance Company formed in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia, pursuant to Royal Decree No. 26/30 dated 16 Rabi® If 14304 (corresponding to Apnl 12, 2009).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31,2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment details are as follows:

Computer Capital Work
Land and Leasehold  hardware/ Furniture Mator  In Progress
Buildines Improvements software IFixtures Vehicles (CWIP) Taotal
Cost:
Balance at beginning of the year 187,577 275,819 693,481 181,650 4,597 124,198 1,467,322
Additions during the vear - - - - 842 111,305 112,147
Disposal during the year (4,964) (285) - (5,249)
Transfers fram CWIP during the year & 11,081 88,117 6,663 - (105,861) -
Batance at end of the year 187,577 286,900 776,634 188,313 5,154 129,642 1,574,220
Accumulated depreciation/ amaortisation:
Balance a1 beginning of the vear 41,894 233,308 545,110 154,421 3,822 - 978,555
Charge for the year 5,266 15,276 64,902 10,284 383 96,112
Disposal duning the vear - - (4,964) - (285) - (5,249)
Balance at end of the year 47,160 248,584 605,048 164,705 3,921 - 1,069,418
Net book value:
As nt 31 December 2013 140,417 38,316 171,586 23,608 1,233 129,642 504,802
Asat 31 December 20112 145,683 42,511 148,371 27,229 775 124,198 488,767
OTHER ASSETS
24 (/]

Accrued special commission receivable; 2043 A

Banks and other financial tnstitutions 10,109 43

Investments 44,797 37,601

Loans and advances 200,567 191,035

Others 65,211 68,401
Total accrued special commission receivable 320,684 297,080
Accounts recetvable 419,834 386,232
Positive fair value of dertvatives (note 11) 286,343 253,523
Others 3,989 3,912
Total 1,030,850 940,748

DERIVATIVES
In the ordinary course of business, the Group utilises the following derivative financial instruments for both trading and hedging purposes:
a) Swaps

Swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. For commission rate swaps, counterpasties generally exchange fixed and floating rate
commission payments in a single currency without exchanging principal. For cross-currency commission rate swaps, principal and fixed and floating
commission payments are exchanged in different currencies.

b) Forwards and futures

Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commedity or financial instrument at a specified price and date in
the Ruure. Fonwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market. Foreign currency and commission rate futures are transacted in
standardised amounts on regutated exchanges and changes in futures contract values are settled daily.

¢} Forward-rate agreements

Forward-rate agreements are individually negotiated commission rate contracts that call for a cash settiement of the difference between a contracted
commission rate and the market rate on 2 specified future date and are based on a notional principal and an agreed period of time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

d) Options

Options are contractual ngreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (helder) the right, but not the obligation, to either buy or sell at a
fixed future date or at any time during a specified period, a specified amount of a currency. commodity or firancial instrument at a pre-determined price.

Derivatives held for trading purposes

Most of' the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve offering products to custamers and banks in
order to nter alia, enable them to transfer, modify or reduce current and future risks. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the
expectation of profiting from favourable movements in prices, mies or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying price differentials between markets or products
with the expectation of profiting.

Derivatives held lor hedging purposes

The Group has adopted a comprehensive process for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management process involves managing the
Group's exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange and commission sates to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors and within
guidelines issued by SAMA.

The Board of Directors has established levels of cumency risk by setting Jimits on counterparty and currency positions. Positions are monitored on a daily
basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure that positions are maintained within the established limits. The Beard of Directors has alsa established the
levels of commission rate risk by senting limits on special commission rate gaps for stipulated periods. Asset and liability commission rate gaps are reviewed
on a periodic basis and hedging strategies are used to reduce commission rate gaps within the established limits.

As part of its asset and liability management process, the Group uses derivatives for hedging pusposes in order 10 adjust its own exposure to currency and
commission rate nsks. This is generally achieved by hedging specific transactions

The Group uses commission rate swaps to hedge against the commission rate risk arising from specifically identified fixed commission rale exposures. The
Group also uses commission rate swaps to hedge apainst the cash flow risk arising en cerlain floating-raie exposures. In all such cases, the hedging
relationship and objective, including details of the hedged items and hedging instrument, are formally documented and the iransactions are accounted for as
fair value or cash flow hedges,

Cash Mlow hedges

‘The Group is exposed to variability in future special commission cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear commission at a variable rate
The Group uses commission rate swaps as cash flow hedges of these commission rate risks. The Group has no cash flow hedges on December 31, 2013. The
table below indicates at December 31, 2012, the periods when the hedged cash flows are expected to occur and when they are expected to affect consolidated
statement of income:

2013 2012
Within 1 vear 1-3 vears Within 1 vear 1-3 vears

Cash inflows {assets) - - 3,630 -
Cash outflows (habilities) - - {10,068) -
Net cash outflows = o {6,438) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Amounts in SAR000

The tables below summarises the positive and negative fair values and notional amounts of derivative financial instrumeats, analysed by the term to maturity
and monthly average. The notional amounts, which provide an indication of the volumes of transactions outstanding at year-end, do not necessarily reflect
the amounts of future cash flows involved. These notional amounis are, therefore, neither indicative of the Group's exposure to market nisk and credit risk.
The latter is generally hmited to the positive fuir value of derivatives.

Derivative financiul

instrumenis 2013

Held for trading:
{“ommisston rate swaps
Foreign exchange and
commaxdity forward
contracts

Currency and commodity
options

Forward rate agreements

Commission rate options

Held ns fair value hedges:

Commission rate swaps

Held as cash flow hedges:
Commission rate swaps

Total

Derivative financial

instrmnenis 2012

Held for trading:
Commission rate swaps
Foreign exchange and
commodity forward
confracts

Currency and commuodity
options

Forward rate agreements
Commission rte optiens

Held as fair volue hedges:
Commission rate swaps

Held as cash flow hedges:
Commission rate swaps

Total

Nosianal gmounts by maturity

Notionul Witlin
Positive Negative amonnt three 1-12 1-5 Over 5
fair valie fair value total monihs Months Years Years
139,669 70,968 23,343,399 937,977 2,726,619 14,170,022 1,508,781
Bt,9% 34313 15,641,511 9,439,627 6,201,884 -
64,653 64,653 27,548,514 5,997,229 12,970,597 8,580,688 -
4+ 20,0400 - 200,000 = -
1 1 1,219,279 219,279 - 1,000,000 -
- 5,958 375,630 1, 1M 163,772 173353 37,505
286,343 175,893 68,328,333 16,595,112 22,262,872 27,924,063 1,546,286
Novonal amowns by mainrin:
Notional Within

Posuive Negarive amount three 3-12 I-3 Over 5
fair value foir value total nonths Months Years ‘ears
132,136 105,143 18,682,591 1,042,188 3,098 570 12,970 323 1,571,510
99,614 97.450 21,742 440 13,481,898 8,260,542 - -
21,722 21,501 21,556,764 5.326.374 13,110,207 3,120,183 -

19 - 200,000 - - 200,000
33 33 1,219,279 - - 1,219279 -
- 2717 651,835 2,118 17,867 594,344 37,506
- 6,355 350,000 - 350,000 - .
253,524 253,200 64,402,909 19,852,578 24,837,186 18,104,129 1,609,016

Monthly
dverage

22,301,487

18,441,155

29,771,908
201,000
1,219,279

464,754

T,123

Monthiy
dverage

17,397,804

28,034,814

29,399,035
475,000
969,279

812,666

350,000

The gross positive and negative fir values of commission rate swaps amounted to SAR 1,020 million (2012; SAR 725 million) and SAR 957 million (2012
SAR 727 million) respectuively. The fair values of these derivatives, as presented in the above table, are on net basis as certain derivatives can be settied
under masier netnng arrangements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

The tables below shows a summary of hedged ttems, the nature of the risk being hedged, the hedging instrument and its fair value:

Fuir
Description of hedged items ralue
2013
Fixed commussion rate investments 370,464
Loans and advances 27,998
Fair
Description of bedged items yalue
2042
Fixed commission rate invesiments 379,242
Subordinated debt 355,349
Loans and advances 319638

Hedpe
inception
virhe

348,797

27,333

Hedge
treeption
value
348.806

350,000

294,207

Risk

Fair Value

Fair Value

Risk

Fair Value

Cash Flow

Fair Value

Hedging
Instrument

Commission
rale swaps
Commission
rate swaps

Hedging
{nstrment

Commussion
rate swaps
Commission
rate swaps
Commission
rale swaps

The losses on the hedging instruments held for fair valie hedge are SAR 5.96 million (2012: SAR 22,7 million).

Positive

fair value

Positve

fair value

Negative

fair value

5,680

278

Negative

fair value

16,583
6,355

6,134

Approximately 67.7% (2012 65%) of the positive foir value of the hedging instruments relating to Group's derivatives are entered into with financial
mstitutions and less than $1%5 (2012, 11%) of the 1otal positive fair value of the derivatives are with any single counterparty at the reporting date. Derivative

activites are carried out by the Group's treasury segment

DIE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Current accounts

Money market deposits

Total

CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS

Time
Demand
Saving
Others

Total

Time depasits include:

i1 Deposits under repurchase agreements with customers
1} Tslamic deposits

Others include SAR 713 million (2012 SAR 517 million) of margins held for imevocable commitments

29

2013 2042
1,302,974 591,858
1,191,304 883,065
2,494,278 1,474,923

2013 2012

35,575,566 30,129,109
24,951,832 22,698 615
434,877 411,420
13,174 674,528
61,875,449 53,913.672

2013 2012

3,367,370 3,690,000
16,914,356 12,516,277



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

Non commussion based deposits amounting te SAR 25.2 billion (2012: SAR 22.7 billion). Foreign currency deposits as at December 31, are as follows:

2013 2002

Time 4,952,255 6,012,648
Demand 2,761,124 1661663
Saving 27,765 22,732
Others 123349 97,702
Total 7,864,493 8,794,745

SUBORDINATED DEBT
Subordinated debt represents the following debt securines:

Issued on December 12, 2013

The Group issued SAR 2,500 million unsecured subordinated Tier I1 Sukuk which are due in 2023, The Group has the option, subject to the prior written
approval of SAMA, to redeem these Sukuk at their redemption amount in December 2018 or in the event of certain changes affecting the taxation and
regulatory capital reatment of the Sukuk. The commission rate paid on the above averaged 6 months SIBOR Plus 155 basis points. ANl required approvals
from regulatory authorities have been obtained for the purpose of issuance.

Issued on November 26, 2012:

The Group issued SAR 1,400 miilion unsecured subordinated Tier 11 Sukuk which are due in 2019, The Group has the option, subject to the prior written
approval of SAMA, to redeem these Sukuk at their redemption amount in November 2017 or in the event of cerain changes affecting the taxation and
regulatory capital treatment of these Sukuk. The commission rate paid on the sbove averaged 6 months SIBOR Plus 115 basis points (2012: 6 months
STBOR Plus | 15 basis paint).

Issued an December 30, 2009;

The Group issued SAR 723 million unsecured subordinated Sukuk "Mudaraba Centificates”, which are due in 2019, through public offer. The Group has the
option, subject to the prior written approval of SAMA, to redeem these certificates at their redemption amount at the end of 2014, at the end of each calendar
vear thereafler until 2018 or in the event of cenain chonges affecting taxation and the regulatory capital treaiment of these Mudaraba Certificates. The
commission rate paid on the above averaged 6 months STBOR Plus 190 basis painis (2012: 6 months SIBOR Plus 190 basis pont).

Issued on December 29, 2008:

The Group issued SAR 775 million unsecured subordinated Sukuk "Mudaraba Centificates”, which were due in 2018. The Group exercised the option of
early redemption of these certificates at their redemption amount in December 2013, The commission rate paid on the above averaged 6 monghs SIBOR Plus
200 basis points (2012 6 months SIBOR Pius 200 basis point). All required approvals from regulatory amhorities have been abtained for the purpose of
redemptions.

The Group has not defaulted on any principal or cemmission repayments and there has been no breaches with regard to any of these linbilities during 2013
or 2012,

OTHER LIABILITIES

Acerued special commission payable: 2tH3 2012
Banks and other financial institutions 195 126
Customer deposits 143,977 115,596
Subordinated debt 6,603 3,149
Others 76,533 83,075

Total accrued special commission payable 221,309 201,946
Accrued expenses and accounts payable 1,322,238 1,056,914
Negative fair value of derivatives (note 11) 175,893 253,200
Others 346,666 398,879

Total 2,072,106 1,910,939

a0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

SHARE CAPITAL
The autherised, issued and fully paid share capital consists of 396.90 millien (2012; 396,90 million) shares of SAR 10 (2012; SAR 10) each.

The ownership of the Bank’s share capital is as follows:

Percentage 2013 2002
Sands shareholders 60% 2,381,400 2,381 400
ABN AMRO Bank N V. (The Netherlands) 0% 1,587,600 1,587,600
Total 100% 3,969,000 3,969,000

On December 9. 2013, the Board of Directors has approved the transfer of SAR 793.8 million to a reserve with the intention to increase the Bank's share
capital througl a one-for-five banus share dividend subject to a final approval of the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting.

STATUTORY RESERVE
In accordance with Saudi Arabian Banking Control Law ond the By-Laws of the Bank, a minimum of 25% of the annual net income is required to be

transferred 1o a statutory reserve until this reserve equals the paid up share capital of the Bank. Accordingly, SAR 375.40 million (2012: SAR 313.25
miilion) has been transferred from net income. The statutory reserve is not available for distribusion,

OTHER RESERYES

Available for
sale Cash flow
investments hedpes Toral
2013
Balance at beginning of the year 565 (6,355) (5,790)
Net change in fair value 19,329 - 19,329
Transfer to consolidated statement of iIncome 1,796 6,355 8,151
Balance at end of the year ! _2!,§9C! — 21,(_591]
Available for
sale Cash flow
2012 investments hedges Total
Balance at beginning of the year (8.366) (11,874) (20,240}
Net change in fair value / effective portion of change in fair value recognised 4,395 5519 9914
Transfer 10 consolidated statement of income 4,536 - 4,536
Balance at end of the year 563 {6,355) ~ (5.790)

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a) Legal proceedings

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were centain legal proceedings outstanding against the Group that arese in the normal course of business, No
provision has been made during the year (2012- SAR 1.27 million) as professional legal advice indicates that it is not probable that any further losses will
arise with respect to these proceedings,

b) Capital commitments

The Group has capital commitments of SAR 41.28 million (2012; SAR 16.8 million) in respect of leasehold improvements and computer hardware and
software purchases



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

c) Credit related commitments and contingencies
The pamary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to customers as required.

Guarantees and stand-by letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that o customer cannot meet
its obligations to thurd parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and advances. Cash requirements under puarantees and standby leners of credit are
considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw the full funds under the agreement.

Documentary letters of credit are written undentakings by the Group on behalf of o customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a
stipulated amount under specific 1erms and conditions and are generally collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods ta which they relate and
therefore, have significantly less nisk

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group 1o pay bilis of exchange drawn on cusiomers. The Group expects most acceptances to be presented before
being reimbursed by the customers

Commitments to extend credit represent the unused partion of authorisations to extend credit, principally in the form of loans and advances, guarantees and
letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a Joss of an amount equal to the total unused
commitments. However, the likelv amount of loss, which cannot readily be quantified, 15 expected to be considerably less than the total unused commitment
as most commitments to extend crednt are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The total outstanding commitments 1o extend
eredit do not necessarily represent future cash requirements as many of the commitments could expire or termminate without being funded

i) The contractual maturities of the Group’s commitments and contingencies are as follows:

Within 3 3w 12 1wl Over §
2013 months months Years Years Tental
Letters of credit 2,166,986 3,385,254 157,073 - 5,709,313
Letters of gunrantee 2,111,972 7,966,129 9,259,428 174,901 19,512,430
Acceptances 2,155,141 516,792 17,962 - 2,689,895
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 31,879 4,031 358,557 1,782,148 2,176,615
Total 6,465,978 11,872,206 9,793,020 1,957,049 30,088,253

IFithin 3 3012 tws her s
2042 manths moths Years ears fotal
Letters of credit 2923339 2,934,003 445,998 - 6,303,340
Letters of guarantee 1,671,574 7.123,593 6,608,379 67,325 15,470,871
Acceptances 1,897,045 346,029 28,807 - 2,271,881
[rrevocable commitments to extend credit - - 240,208 963,478 1,203,686
Total 6,491,958 10,403,625 7,323,392 1,030,803 25,249,778

The cutstanding and unused portion of commitments that can be revoked unilaterally at any time by the Group amounts to SAR 13.48 billion (2012: SAR
16.42 billion).

i) Commitmens and contingeneies by conunterparty are as follows: 2013 2012
Government and quasi-government 202,070 38,833
Corporate 26,233,613 22,170,671
Banks and other financial institutions 3,375331 2,745,393
her 277,239 294 881
Total 30,088,253 25249778

iz
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR000

d) Opernting lense commitments

The future minimum {ease pavments under non-cancellable operating leases where the Group is a lessee, are os follows:

2013 2012
Less than 1 year 49,657 45,395
! ta 5 vears 150,963 118,038
Over 5 years 127,673 66,878
Total 328,293 230,311
SPECIAL COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE
Special commission income
Investments: 2013 2012
Available for sale 4,960 9,761
Held to maturity 3,497 4,748
Other investinents held at amortised cost 192,613 138,200
201,070 152,709
Due from banks and other finaneial institutions 22,766 19,384
Loans and advances 1,871,669 1,547,674
Total 2,095,505 1,719,767
Special commission expense 2813 2012
Due 10 banks and other financial institutions 7,276 4,813
Customers’ deposits 375,993 287458
Subordinated debt 88,524 35,162
Total 471,793 347,433
FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME, NET
Fee and commission income:
2013 2012
Share brokerage and fund management 8,368 55,030
Trade finance 262,859 235,867
Corporate finance and advisory 347,616 269,465
Credit card products 100,431 86,718
Other banking services 47,967 44 410
Total fee and commission income 807,241 691 490
Fee cxpenses:
Credit card products 60,296 53,322
(Onher banking services 14,720 10,463
Total fee expenses 75,016 63,785
Fee and commission income, net 732,225 627,705
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Amounts in SAR’000

TRADING INCOME, NET

Foreign exchange, net
Investments held for trading
Denvatives

Total

(LOSSES)}/ GAINS ON NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS, NET

Available for sale investments
Other investments held at amontised costs

Total

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE-RELATED EXPENSES

2013 20012
58,639 56,522
355 1,073
77,405 40,066
136,399 97,661
2013 2042
(750) 7,689

= (3.134)
(750) 4,555

The following table summarizes the Group’s employee catepories defined in accordance with SAMA’s rules on compensation practices and includes the total
amounts of fixed and variable compensation paid to employees during the years ended Decenber 31, 2013 and 2012, and the forms of such payments.

2013 . . n
LS cnm:‘;:;:lion > ot
I v
aries of emplo employees aid Cash Shares Toial
Sentor executives who require SAMA's no objection 16 22,1 6,629 6,624 35354
Employees engaged in control and risk management functions 96 28,055 3,361 1,402 32,818
Employees engaged in risk taking activities 452 105,706 16,276 6,385 128,367
Orher employees 1,620 206,824 23,911 4,862 235,597
Total 2,184 362,686 50,177 19,273 432,136
Vaniable Compensation accrued during the year: 51,700
Other emplovee related expenses paid during the yvear 83,398
Other employee related expenses accrued duning the year 11,072
Total Salartes and employee related expenses 508,856
2002
Nuniber of Fixedt. Variable Compensation

compensation
Catepories of emplovees employees paid Cash Shates Total
Sentor execuiives who require SAMA's no objection i5 21,253 5,604 517 31,974
Employees engaged in control and risk management functions 93 24,038 2,556 1,046 27,640
Employees engaged in risk taking activities 445 94,803 14,937 6,460 116,190
Other employees 1,568 189,885 18956 4,378 213,219
Total 2,12} 329979 42,043 17,001 389023
Vartable Compensation accrued during the year 46,209
Other employee related expenses paid during the year 81,245
Other employee related expenses acerued during the vear 16,670
l'otal Salanies and employee related expenses 474,103
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

Senior executives requiring SAMA's no objection:

This comprises sentor manngement having responsibility and authority for formulating strategies and directing and controlling the activities of the Group.
This covers the Managing Director (MD) and certain other employees directly reporting to the MD.

Emplayees enpaged in control and risk management functions:

This refers to employees working in divisions that are not invelved in risk taking activities but are engaged in review and control functions, for example Risk
Management, Comphance, Internal Audit, Qperations and Finance. These functions are fully independent from the risk taking units.

Emplayees engaged in risk toking activities:

This comprises stafT within business lines (Corporate Bankiny, Personal Banking, Treasury and SHC), who are respansible for executing and implementing
the business sirategy on behalf of the Group, for example staff involved in recommending credit limits, pricing of leans, undentaking and executing business
proposals, treasury dealing activities. investment management and brokerage services

Other employees:
I'is includes all ather employees of the Group, excluding those afready mentioned above.
Group Compensation poficy:

The purpose of the policy is 10 establish and apply compensation policies and processes which support delivery of business strategy, reinforce the desired
organisational culture, reflect prudent nisk managentent and comply with SAMA Regulations.

The Group's cormpensalion policy 1s aimed at rewarding both risk-adjosted performance and appropriate behaviour in line with the Group's core values To
this end, performance measurements are risk adjusted and reviewed by the independent Risk Management function. In addition, the Coinpensation Policy is
reviewed by Risk Management to ensure rewards are adjusted for the level of risk incurred.

The Board of Directors are responsible for ensuring the effective implementation of the compensation policy. The Board is advised by the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee (The "Commitiee™), which comprises three ndependent Non Executive Directors. The Commiltee receives reporis and
recommendations from Executive Management supported by Human Resources. The Committee reviews and approves all compensation decisions relating to
all emplovees.

Heads of busiress units and control functions being monitored and/or controlled by Internal Audit, Compliance, Risk Management and Credit Risk will not
have any input to compensation decisions of employees in the control functions Compensation recommendations are determined based on a clear
understanding of the intended total reward package and decisions are taken considenng the balance between external competitiveness and affordability
together with focusing attentton on building motivatiornal and performance related compensation arrangements.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted ermings per share for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable to
the equity holders by 396.9 million shares.

PROPOSED GROSS DIVIDENDS, ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX

The Board of Directors has proposed gross final dividends of SAR 468.34 million for the current year (2012: SAR 444,53 million}. The dividends are paid
to the Saudi and non-Saudi shareholders afier deduction of Zakat and income tax respectively as follows:

1) Saudi sharcholders:

Zakat attributable to Saudi Sharehalders for the year is an estimated SAR 49 million (2012: SAR 54 million), which will be deducted from their share of
future dividends. Zakat of SAR 44 million paid in prior vears will be deducted from the current vear's proposed dividend resulting in a net dividend of SAR 1
per share (2012: SAR ! per share),

b) Non-Saudi shareholders:

Income tax pavable on the current vear’s share of income of foreign shareholders is an estimated SAR 119 miillion (2012: SAR 98 million). Tax liability
amounting to SAR 96 million will be deducted from current year's proposed dividend resulting n a net dividend of SAR 0.55 per share (2012. SAR 0,47
per share)
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

¢} Status of Zakat and tnx assessments

The Bank has filed ns Zakat and retums for the years up to and mcluding the financial year 2012 with the Department of Zakat and Income Tax (the
“DZIT"). Zakat and tax retums have been finalized upto and including financial year 2004. The Bank received Zakat and fax assessments from the DZIT in
respect of the years 2005 and 2006 and a partiat assessment for year 2010 raising additional Zakat and tax liabilities The basis for this additiona liability is
being contested by all the banks in the Kingdom of the Saudi Arabia. The Bank has formally contested the assassments and is awaiting response from the
DZIT,

The Management believes that the ultimate outcome of the appeal filed and actions taken by the Bank in conjunction with other banks in the Kingdom of
Saudi Ambia cannot be determined reliably at this stage

CASH AND CASH EQUHVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following:

2013 2012
Cash and balances with SAMA excluding statutory deposit {note 4) 3,558,843 6,955,327
Due from banks and other financial institutions matuning within three months
or less from the acquisition date 814,367 840,717
Total 4,373,210 7,796,044
OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are identified on the basis of interral reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
makers in order to allocate resources and to nssess perforinance. During the period, the Group's manapement made a decision to split the activities of
Treasury segment to “Treasury” representing the core treasury results and balances and "Others” to include the group-wide assets and liabilities management.
The decision resulted in an improved internal reporting on the Group’s operating segments. Transactions between reporiable segments are on normal
commercial terms and conditions. Funds are ordinarily reallocated between reportable segments. resulting in funding cost transfers. Commission is charged
to reportable segments based on a pool rate, which approximates the marginal cost of funds. Following are the repartable business segments of the Group:

Corporate banking

The corporate banking pgroup offers a range of products and services to corporate and institutional customers. It accepts customer deposits and provides
financing, incleding term loans, overdrfis, syndicated loans, trade finance services. Services provided 1o customers include intemet banking, global
transaction services and o centralised service that manages afl customer transfers, electronic or otherwise.

Personal banking

The personal banking group operates through a national network of branches and ATMs supported by a 24-hour phone banking center. The Group accepts
customers’ deposits in various savings and deposit accounts and provides retail banking produets and services, including consumer loans, overdrafts and
eredit cards to individuals and small-to-medium-sized enterprises.

Treasury

Treasury transacts mainly in money market, foreign exchange, commission rate and other derivatives for corporate and institutional customers as well as for
the Group's own benefit. It is also responsible for managing the Group’s investment portfolio.

Investment banking and investment services

The investment banking and investment services proup offers security dealing, managing, armnging, advising and maintaining custody services in relation 10
securities.

Others

Others include the group-wide assets and liabilities management of the Group's operations other than the Treasury's core activities, maintaining group-wide
liquidity and managing its consolidated financial position. It also includes the net interdepartmentat revenues / chasges on Funds Transfer Pricing based on
the Group's methodology as approved by ALCO, the unallocated income and expenses relanng to Head Office and other departments and the unallocated
assets and liabilines.
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

Information regarding the results of ench reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profil as included in the intemal
management reports that are reviewed by Management. Segment profit 1s used to measure performance as Management believes that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

a) The following is an nnalysis of the Group’s nssets, revenues nnd resulis by operating segments for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012,

Tnvestment

banking and

Corporate Persanal investment
2013 Bunking Banking Treasury services. Others Totad
Total nssets 44,297,447 9,551,567 21,608,741 505,568 4,503,938 80,468,261
Total liabilities 31,552,195 20,331,500 2,494,278 24,362 16,664,498 71,066,833
Net special commission income 986,160 562,704 215,876 4,808 (145,836) 1,623,712
Fee and commission income, net 596,565 138,600 - 54,106 {57,046) 732,225
Trading income, net 85,445 7,573 15,898 4,356 (6,873) 136,399
Total operating income 1,760,259 737,734 265,050 63,270 (210,318) 2,615,995
Impairment eharge for credit losses, net 113,174 45323 = - - 218,497
Depreciation and amortisation 32,985 55,226 7,901 - - 96,112
Total operating expenses 454,467 547,557 69,914 41,634 = 1,113,572
Net operating income for the year 1,305,792 190,177 195,136 21,636 (210,318) 1,502,423

Investment

banking and

Corporate Personal invesimemt
2012 Banking Banking Treasury senvives Others Total
Total assets 38,933,880 6,447,887 18,499,301 491,818 4,132,627 68,505,513
Total liabilities 26,792,582 17,526,608 1,474,923 23,716 14,381,705 60,199 534
Net special commission income 895,796 466,281 167,279 4,561 (161,583) 1,372,334
Fee and commission income, net 494 920 120,583 - 67,159 (54,957 627,705
Trading income, net 59,740 5,514 32,406 3.810 {3,809) 97,661
Total operating income 1,536,551 623,249 199,685 75,529 (215,667} 2,219,347
impairment charge for credit losses, net 77,810 62,094 o 5 o 139,904
Release of impairment charge of investments - - (20,000} - - (20,000)
Depreciation and amortisation 38,880 62,818 9.043 - - 110,741
Total operating expenses 308,529 533,550 71,768 52 817 - 966,664
Net operating income for the year 1,228,022 89,699 127917 22712 (215,667) 1,252,683

b) The Group’s credit expasure by business segment is as lollows:

Corporate Personal
2013 Banking Banking Treasury Total
Non derivative financial assets 44,297,447 9,552,567 18,617,762 72,467,776
Commitmenis and contingencies 14,523,365 - - 14,523,365
Derivatives . - 1,312,922 1,312,922

Corporate Personal
2012 Banking Banking Treasury Fatal
Non derivauve financial assets 38,933 880 6,447,887 12,237,344 57619111
Commitments and eontingencies 11,739 866 - - 11,739, 866
Denvatives - - 1,132.341 1,132,341

Credit exposure compnses the carrying value of non derivative financial assets, excluding cash and balances with SAMA, property and equipment and other
assets The credit equivalent value of commitments, contingencies and derivatives are also included in credit exposure.

EY)
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR'000

CREDIT RISK

Credit nisk 15 the risk that one party 10 a financial instrument wiil fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit
exposures anse principally in lending activities that lead 1o loans and advances, and investment activities. There is alsc a credit risk on credit related
commuments, contingencies and derivatives. The Group controls credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific
counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties.

In addition to monitoning credit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating to its trading activities by entering into master netting agreements and
colisteral arrangements with counterparties in appropriate circumstances, and by limiting the duration of exposure. In certain cases management may also
close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. The Group's credit risk on derivatives represents the potential cost ta
replace the derivative contracts if counterparties fail to fulfild their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken, management assesses counter parties
using the same techniques as for its lending activities

Concentrations of credit risk anse when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the same geographic region, or
have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or
other conditions.

Concentrations of credit nsk indicate the refative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographicat
focation,

Management seeks to manage concentration of credit risk through the diversification of lending activities to ensure that there is ne undue concentration aof
risks with individuals or groups of customers 1n specific locations or businesses. It glso takes security when appropniate or seeks additional collateral from the
counterparty as soon 25 impairment indicators are noticed.

Management monitors on a regular basis the market value of collateral and requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, if
required In addition it also specifically monitors the market value of collateral during its review of the adequacy of the allowances for impairment losses,
Management regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets products and emerging best practice

The debt securities included in the investmemt portfolio are mainly sovereign risk. Analysis of investments by class of counter party is provided in note 6.
For details of the composition of loans and advances refer to note 7. Information on credit risk relating to derivative instruments and commitments and
contingencies are provided in note 11 and 19 respectively . Information on the Group's maximum credit exposure by operating sepment is provided in note
28.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk at December 31, 2013 and 2012, without taking into account of any collateral held or credit enhancements
attached 1s reflected below

2013 2002
Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,751,367 B40,717
Investments, net 16,849,162 11,378,577
Loans and advances, net 53,652,328  45276,199
Derivatives 1,312,922 1,132,341
Credit related comminments and contingencies 14,523,365 11,739,866
Total 88,089,141 70,367,700

The Group uses a credit classification system as a tocl 10 assist in managing the quality of credit risk within the lending portfelio. In addition to the three
calegories mentioned in note 7 management maintains further classification grades that differentistes between performing and impaired ponfolios and
allocates portfolio and specific allowances respectively. Management determines each individuat borrower’s grade based on specific objectives and criteria
such as activity, cash flows, capital structure, securiry, quality of management and borrower's character. A further quality classification is performed over
existing borrowers and the results of this exercise are validated by the independent risk management unit

38



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION

The Group's credi exposure by geographicai region is as follows

Other

Saudi GCC and North South Other
2013 Arabia  Middle East Europe America East Asia Countries Tortal
Assels
Cash and balanices with SAMA 6,662,522 - - - - - 6,662,522
Due from banks and other financial
eiiorons 632,663 453,663 481,263 166,699 2,665 14414 1,751,367
Invesimems, net 15,150,531 1,223,963 375,050 - - 90,618 16,849,162
Loans and advances, net 53,211,260 441,065 - - - - 53,652,325
Total 75,656,976 2,118,691 856,313 166,699 2,665 114,032 78,915,376
Commitments and
Contingencies 27,287,819 366,408 604,424 148,218 2,023 1,679,361 30,088,253
Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent
amounts)
Commiiments and
contingencies 13,149,403 262,938 376,165 62,394 1,011 671,454 14,523,365
Derivatives 564,855 41,276 703,235 3,554 2 - 1,312,922

Other

Sanch GCC and Nornh Sonth Other
2012 Arahia  Middle Fost Europe America East Asia Countries Total
Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 9,562,455 - - - - - 9,562,455
Due from banks and other financial
nstitutions 213,239 146,087 454918 21,184 1484 3,805 840,717
investments, net 9,732,407 1,265,386 281,295 - - 99 489 11,378,577
Loans and advances, net 44,833,214 442 985 - - - - 45276,199
Total 64,341,315 1,854,458 736,213 21,184 1,484 103,294  67,057,94
Commitments and
Contingencies 22,862,646 262932 599,744 115,882 684 1,407,890 25,249,778
Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalem
amounts)
Commitments and
contineencies 10,638,255 202,477 370,436 60,364 589 467,745 11,739,866
Derivatives 496,688 90,324 536,936 8,243 49 1 1,132,341

Credit equivalent amounts reflect the amounts that result from wanslating the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments into the risk equivalent of
loans, using credit conversion factors prescribed by SAMA. The Credit conversion factor is meant to capture the potential credit risk related to the exercise of
that commitment. Impaired loans and advances and allowsnces for credit osses are all within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR'000

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the nisk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as commission
rates, foreign exchange rates. and equity prices. Management classifies exposures to market risk into either trading, non-trading or banking book.

The market risk for the trading book is managed and monitored using a Value at Risk (VaR) methodology. Market risk for the non-trading book is managed
and monitored using a combinanon of VaR, stress testing and sensitivity analysis

1) MARKET RISK - TRADING BOOK

The Board of Directors has set limits for the acceprable level of risk in managing the trading book. In order to manage market risk in the trading book,
Management applies 2 VaR methodology daily to assess the market risk positions held and also to estimate the potential economic foss based on a set of
assumptions and changes in market conditions

A VaR methodology estimates the potennial negative change in the market value of a portfolio nt a given confidence level and over a specified time horizon.
The Group uses simulation models to assess the possible changes in the market value of the trading book based on historical data. VaR models are usually
destgned 10 measure the market risk in a normal market environment and therefore the use of VaR has limitations because it is based on historical
correlations and volatilities in market prices and assumes that the fiture movemems will folfow a statistical distribution.

VaR that management uses is an estimate, using a confidence level of 99% of the potential loss that is not expected to be exceeded if the current markes
positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of 99% cenfidence level depicts that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding VaR figure should
occur, on average, not more than once every hundred days.

The VaR represenis the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day. and it does not account for any losses that may occur beyond the defined confidence
interval The aciual trading results may differ from the VaR calculations and, in particular, the calculation does not provide a meaningful indication of profits
and losses in stressed market conditions.

To overcome the VaR limitations mentioned above, management maintains a framewark of non-modeled limits that show potential loss for a given change in
a market factor and makes no assumption about the behaviour of market factors. Furthermore, management employs stop loss limits an market risk positions
and carries ot stress tests of its portfolio 10 simulate conditions autside normal confidence intervals, The potential losses occurring under stress fest
conditions are reported regularly to the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) for review.

The Group’s VaR related information for the year ended December 31, 2013 is as provided below. Total VaR takes into account correlations across asset
classes and accordingly it is not the total of individual VaR.

Foreign exchange Special Commixsion Foreipn Exchange Cveralf
riie risk rate risk Forwards Risk
2013 (VaR)
As at December 31 108 871 34 1,013
Average for the year 172 499 70 741
Fareign exchange Special Commission Foreign Exchange Overall
raie risk rate rist Fonvards Risk
2012 {VaR)
As at December 31 200 422 10 632
Average for the vear 155 309 63 527

b) MARKET RISK - NON-TRADING OR BANKING BOOK
Market nisk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from commission rate, foreign eurrency exposures and equity price changes.

i) COMMISSION RATE RISK

Comnussion rate nisk arises from the possibility that changes in commission rates will affect either the fair values or the future cash flows of the financial
nstruments. The Board of Directors has established commission rate gap limits for stipulated periods. Management monitors positions daily and uses
hedging strategies to ensure maintenance of positions within estzblished gap limits
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Amounts in SAR’000

The following table depicts the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in commission rates, with other variables held constant, on the Group's
consohdated statement of income or equity. The sensitivity of the income is the effect of the assumed changes in commission rates on the net commission
income for one year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financiat linbilities held at vear end including the effect of hedging
mstruments. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing the fixed rate available for sale financial assets, including the effect of any associated hedges
at year end for the effect of assumed changes in commission rates. The sensitivity of equity is analyzed by matusity of the asset or swap.

Banking baok exposures are monitored and analyzed in currency concentrations and relevant sensitivities are disclosed in SAR million below:

2013
Sensitivity ol | Sensitivity of eguity
Incrense/ (decrease) in special % !
Carrenm D commission |6 months or less| 6 tol2 months 1-5Yrs Over SYears Total
LUSD 2 ) i 1 ] i -
(25) 5 i = - = -
o 25 32 ) an (155) - (179)
25) (32) 7 17 155 5 179
Others 2] 3 ) - ) ) -
{25) (1) . - - . .
2012
Sensitivity ol itivity of
Increase/ {decrease) in special
Gliirency: e it commissian [ menths or less | 6 1012 months 1-5 Yrs Over 5Years Total
UsD 2 ) 1 ) - E
{25) 5 - - - - -
SAR 25 43 ] (17 (308) - (332)
(25} (43) 7 17 308 - 332
Others e ] . ) N X )
{25) = S = S S -

The exposure to the effect of various risks associated with fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market commission rates on the Group's financial position

and cash flows is managed.

The Boasd af Directors sets limits on the level of commission rate re-pricing mismarch that may be underiaken. These limits are monitored daily by the
Group’s Treasury. The Group is exposed to commission rate risk as a result of mismoatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and Nabilities and other
derivative financial instruments that mature or re-price in a given period. This risk is managed by matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities through
risk management sirategies. The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to commission rate risks. Inchuded in the table are the Group's assets and
liabilities at carrving amounts, cateporised by the earlier of the contractunl re-pricing or the maturity dates,

2013
Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA

Due from banks and other f{inancial

institutions
Investments, net
Loans and advances, net
Investment in an associate
Propeny and equipment, net
Other assetz

Total

Nen

Within 3 i i2 Tto§ ChverS  commicsion
Maontls nl, Yedars Years bearing Tatal
2,990,979 - - - 3,671,543 6,662,522
946,540 - - - 804,827 1,751,367
4,952,099 9,223,435 617,250 1,744,633 311,745 16,849,162
32,310,142 10,584,318 6,455,174 4,302,691 - 53,652,325
- - - - 17,233 17,233
o o - - 504,802 504,802
- - - - 1,030,850 1,030,850
41,199,760 19,807,753 7,072,424 6,047,324 6,341,000 80,468,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR000

Non
Within 3 It 12 15 Cher 5 cominission
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity Meanihs Months Years Years bearing Tosal
Due to banks and other financial
nstitutions 1,185,154 1,150 5,000 - 1,302,974 2,494,278
Customers” deposits 30,734,219 5,244,082 717,453 - 25,179,695 61,875,449
Subordinated debt - 4,625,000 - - - 4,625,000
Other liabilives - - - - 2,072,106 2,072,106
Shareholders’ equity - - - - 9,401,428 9,401,428
Tatal liabilities and shareholders' equity 31,919,373 9,870,232 722,453 - 37,956,203 80,468,261
Commission rate sensitivity - financial
position gap 9,280,387 9,037,521 6,349,971 6,047,324 (31,615,203) -
Commission rate sensitivity on
derivative financial instruments 1,045,442 (722,274) {406,335) (7,659) 90,826 -
Total commission rate sensitivity gap 10,325,829 9,215,247 5,943,636 6,039,665 (31,524,377) -
Cumulative commission rate
sensilivity gap 710,325,829 19,541,076 25,484,712 31,524,377 - -
Non
Within 3 3wl Tiw) Cver 5 commission
2012 Months Months ears Years bearing Total
Assels
Cash and balances with SAMA 6,261,957 - - - 3,300,498 9,562,455
Due from banks and other financial
instituttons - - - - 840,717 840,717
Investments, net 23,327.370 8,435,127 119,888 450,000 46,292 11,378,577
Loans and advances, net 29,821,857 9,637,150 4,297,687 1,519,505 - 45276,199
Investment in an associate - - - - 18,050 18,050
Praperty and equipment, net - - - - 488,767 488,767
Other assets - - - - 940,748 940,748
Total 38,411,084 18,072,277 4,417,575 1,969,505 5,635,072 68,505,513
Non
Within 3 Jt0 12 fro3 Over5  commission
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity Aonths Afonths wars Years bearing Total
Due to banks and other financial
institutions 881,350 1,15 - - 591,858 1,474,923
Customers’ deposits 25,136,543 5,492,231 639,157 - 22 645,741 53,913,672
Subordinated debt - 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000
Other liabilities - - - - 1,910,939 1,910,939
Shareholders” equity S = = = 2,305,979 8305979
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 26,017,893 8,393,946 639,157 - 33,454,517 68,505,513
Commussion rate sensitivity - financial
position gap 12,393,191 9,678,331 3,778,418 1,969,505 (27,819,445) -
Commission rate senstiivity on
denvative financial instruments 685,139 248,109 {1.055,653) 122,405 - -
Total commission rate sensitivity gap 13078330 9926440 2,722,765 2,091.910  (27,819,445) -

Cumulative commission rate
sensitivity gap 13,078,330 23,004,770 25,727,535 27,819,445 - -
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

Commission rate sensitivity gap represents the net notional amounts of derivative financial instruments that are used to manage commission rate risk. The
effective vield of a monetary financial instrument is the vield that the Group eams from its clients taking into consideration the coniractual commission rate.

ii) CURRENCY RISK

Curmrency nsk represents the nisk of change in the value of financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange mtes. The Board of Directors have set
limits on positions by currencies, which are monitored daily. Hedging strategies are also used to ensure that positions are maintained within these limits. The
table below shows the currencies to which the Group has a significant exposure as at year end on its non-trading monetary assets and liabilines and
forecasted cash flows The analysis calculates the effect on 1he consolidated statement of mcome (due to the fair value of the currency sensitive non-trading
monetary assets and liabilities) of & potential movement in the foreign currency against SAR, with all other variables held canstant. A positive effect shows a
potential increase in consolidated statement of income or equity, whereas a negative effect shows a potential net reduction in consolidated statement of
income o equnty.

2013
Change in Effect on
Currency expostire Currency Rate (%) Net lacome
5 (12,667)
=L {5) 12,667
5 (3,484)
CHF ) 3,484
EUR 5 398
) (898)
5 (25)
GBP
(5) 25
5 20
JPY
(5 (20)
5 155
Others
(5) (155)
2012
Change in Effect on
Currency exposure Currency Rate {%5) Net Income
. f (22,021)
(3} 22,021
CHF . @
(5) 7
EUR 5 101
(5 {ton
GBP > '
(3 (1}
JPY : 12
(3) (12}
Others . 2L
(5} (485)

Exposure 1o the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign curmrency exchange rates on the Group's financial position and cash flows is managed by the
Board of Directors setting limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions. These limits are monitored
daily

At the end of the year, the Group had the follewing significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

Long / (short)

SAR ' 000

2013 2012
US Dollar (253,344) {440,423)
Swass Franc (69,676) (131}
Euro 17,955 2,028
Pound Sterling (505) 27
Japanese Yen 409 235
Others 3,101 9,702
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

i) EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk refers to the risk of n decrease in the fair values of equities in the Group's non-trading investment portfolio as a result of reasonable possible
changes in levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The effect on the Bank's equity investments held as avaitable for sale due to reasonable
possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant is as follows:

2013 20
Market Indicies Change in Effect in Change in Effect in
equity SARm equity prices%a SARm
Tadawu! +5 12,814 +35 -
-5 (12,814) -5 -
+ 10 25,628 +10 -
-10 (25,628) -10 L

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk 15 the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or other financial assets. Liquidity nisk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding 1o dry up
at short notice. To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets are managed considering liquidity pesitions to maintain a
healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents and readily markeable securities.

i) Maturity profile of nssets and liabilities

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group's assets and liabilities. The contractual maturities of assets and liabitities have been determined
on the basis of the remaining period to cantractual maturity date as a1 vear end and do not take inta account the effective maturities as indicated by the
Group’s deposit retention history. Management maoniters the maturity profile to ensure that adequate liquidity 1s maintained. The daily liquidity position is
monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions. All liquidity
policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the liquidity position of both the Bank and other operating
subsidiaries. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted regularly 1o ALCO.

In accordance with the Banking Control Law and the regutations issued by SAMA, the Bank maintains a statutory deposit with SAMA equal 1o 7 % (2012:
7%) of total demand deposits and 40 {2012: 4 %) of savings and time deposits. In addition 1o the statutory deposit, the Bank also maintains liquid reserves
of no less than 20%; of its depasits liabilities, in the form of cash, Saudi Government Development Bonds or assets which can be converted into cash within o
period not exceeding 30 days or the Bank may raise additional funds through repo facilities avaitable with SAMA against securities issued by the Saudi
Government up to 75% of the nominal value of bonds held

ii) The matvrity profile of zssets and liabilities at yenr end is as follows:

Na fived Wirthin 3 dta 12 fTws Over S

2013 aturity Months Months Years Years Total
Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 3,103,679 3,558,843 - - - 6,662,522
Due from banks and other financial imstitutions 804,827 946,540 - - - 1,751,367
Investments, net 311,745 3,471,204 9,060,942 1,721,639 2,283,632 16,849,162
Loans and advances, net 1,735,858 15,783,093 11,128,130 16,570,573 B,434,671 53,682,325
Investment in an associate 17,233 . - - - 17,233
Property and equipment, net 504,802 - - - - 504,802
Other assets 1,030,850 - - - - 1,030,850
Total 7,508,994 23,759,680 20,189,072 18,292,212 10,718,303 80,468,261

44



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Amounts in SAR000

Nor fived Within 3 31012 lws Over §

maturity Months Manths Years Years Tofal
Linbilities and shareholders’ equity
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1,302,974 1,185,154 5150 5,000 - 2,494,278
Customers’ deposits 26,809,105 28,804,809 5,544,082 717,453 - 61,875,449
Subordmated debt - - - - 4,625,000 4,625,000
Cther habilities 2,072,106 - - - - 2,072,106
Sharcholders’ equity 9,401,428 - - - - 9,401,428
Total 39,585,613 29,989,963 5,545,232 722,453 4,625,000  B0,468,261

No fived Within 3 31012 lio3 (ver 5
2002 matirity Aoanths Aonths Yeurs Vears Total
Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 2,607,128 6,955,327 - - - 9,562 455
Pue from banks and other financial institulions 840,717 - - - - 240,717
Investments, net 46,292 464,283 7,860,497 2,260,884 746,621 11,378,577
Loans and advances, net 2,193,163 17,016,104 9,275,744 12,795,600 3,995,588 45,276,199
Investment in an associate 18,050 - - - - 18,050
Property and equiptent, net 488,767 - - - - 488,767
Other assets 940,748 - - - - 940,748
Total 7.134,855 24,435 714 17,136,241 15,056,484 4,722,209 68,505,513

No fived Within 3 Jio 12 It03 Over
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity maturity Alonths Months Years Years Toual
Due to banks and other financial imstitutions 591,858 881,351 1,714 - - 1,474,923
Customers” deposits 24112128 23,670,157 5,492,231 639,136 - 53,913,672
Subordinated debt - - - - 2,900,000 2,500,000
Onther liabilities 1,810,939 - - - - 1,910,939
Shareholders” equity 8,305,979 - - - - 8,305,979
Total 34,920,904 24,551,508 5,493,945 639,156 3,900,000 68,505,513

The cumulative maturity of commitments and contingencies and derivatives are given in note 19 (c) and note 11 of the consolidated financia) statements
respectively.

iii) Annlysis of financial linbilities by remaining contractunl maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at year end based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. As
specin] commission payments up to contractuat maturity are included in the table, totais do not match with the consolidated statement of financial position.
The contractual maturities of liabilities have been determined based on the remaining period at year end 0 the contractual maturity date and do not take into
account the effective expected maturities. The Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be
required to pav and therefore the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group's deposit retention history.

Na fived Within 3 3o 12 Ims Over 5
2013 maturie months menths Years ears Total
Financial Linbilities
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1,302,974 1,186,198 1,159 5,290 - 2,495,621
Customers’ deposits 26,809,105 28,903,917 5,595,905 842,229 - 62,151,156
Subordinated debts - 6,603 112,910 1,086,934 5,356,397 6,562,844
Derivatives - - - - -
Contractual amounts payable c {65,752) (208,396)  (657,724)  (155513)  (1,087,385)
Contractual amounts receivable - 70,064 227,042 680,639 168,266 1,146,011
Totnl undiscounted financial linbilities 28,112,079 30,101,030 5,728,620 1,957,368 5,369,150 71,268,247
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

2012

Einpneial Ligbilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions 591,858 881,459 1,718 - - 1.475,035
Customers’ deposits 24,112,128 23,708,410 5,523,905 719,810 - 54,064,253
Subordinated debts - 3,154 74,572 535,688 3,235,459 3,848,873
Derivatives -
Contractual amounts pavable - (68,216) (204,360) (507,228) (68,841) {848,645}
Contractua} amounts receivable - 62,517 200,748 491,196 74 409 828,870
‘Total undiscounted financial Liabilities 24,703,986 24 587,324 5,596,583 1,239,466 3,241,027 59,368,386

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy

Management uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repacking):

Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and huhilities or other valustion technigues for which at}
significant inputs are based on observable market data: and

Level 3: valuation technigues for which significant inputs are not based on observable market data,

2013
Financial assets Level ] Level2 Level 3 Total
Derivahive financial instruments - 286,343 - 286,343
Financial investments available for sale 308,307 219,850 3,438 531,595
Total 308,307 506,193 3,438 817,938
Fingneial 1iabilities

Denvative financial instruments - 175,893 - 175,893
Total I 175,893 — © 1 ‘15.8?{!
2012

Denvative financial instruments - 253,524 - 253,524
Fmancial investments available for sale 165,869 70,430 4,188 240,487
Total ». lﬁ_SE 323954 4,188 494,011

Financial liabitities

Derivative financial imnstruments - 253,200 - 253,200

Fotal - 253,200 - 253,200

The fpir values of financial instruments included in the siatement of financial position, except for those held to maturity, other investmenis held at amortised
costs, loans and advances and customers’ deposits that are carried at amortised cast, are not significantly different from the carrying values included in the
consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair values of other investments held at amortised cost and held-to-maturity investments are based on quoted
market prices, when available, or pricing models in the case of cenain fixed rate bonds The fair values of these investments are disclosed in note 6. The fair
value of loans and advances held ot amortised cost and commission-bearing customers’ deposits are not significantly different from their book vafues since
the cument markel commission rates for similar financial assets are not significantly different from the contracted rates. The fair values of due from banks
and other financiat institutions and due to financial institutions are not significantly different from the carrying values since the underlying amounts for these
categories are for shorter dumtions which indicates that their booking rates are not significantly differen( from the current market rates. The fair value of
subordinated debt approximates carryving value since this is a floating rate liability with commission rates re-priced every six months
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Amounts in SAR000

The value obtained from a valuation model may differ from the transaction price of a financial instrument on transaction date The difference between the
transaction price and the model value is commonly referred to as ‘day one profit and lass'. It is either amortised aver the life of the transaction, deferred until
the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable data or realised through disposal. Subsequent changes in fair value are recogmnised
immediately in the consolidated statement of income without reversal of deferred day one profits and losses,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of s activities, the Group transacts business with related parties. The related party transactions are performed on an arm's lenpth
basts, Banking transactions with related parties are governed by limits set by the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by SAMA

The balances at reporting date, resulting from such transactions are as foliows:

ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 2013 2012
Due from banks and other financial institutions 175,888 39,392
Invesiments 93,753 187,530
Due to banks and other financial institutions 45,932 17,545
Derivatives at fair value, net (1,559) (8,689)
Commitments and contingencies 101,234 97.114

Asseciates & other major shareholders and their affiliate entities with significant influence:

Loans and advances 590,166 521,055
Derivatives at fair value, net (14,747) 2321
Invesiments 40,000 40,000
Customers’ deposits 5,650,999 4,869,777
Subordinated debt 794,000 520,000
Commitments and contingencies 5,143 2,112
Mutual funds managed by the Group:

Investments 52,031 42,104
Subordinated debt 17,500 2,500
Customers” deposits, net 71,209 45,500

Other major shareholders represent shareholdings (excluding the non-Saudi shareholder) of more than 5% of the Bank’s issued share capital. Income and
expenses pertaining 10 transactions with related panies included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2013 2002
Special commission income 20,186 16,136
Special commission expense 87,458 57,320
Fees from banking services, net 1,998 2,784
Fees from management services 14,317 15,854
General and administrative expenses 609 567
Directors” remuneration 3,720 3,850
Compensation paid io key management personnel 35,354 31974

Key management personnel ase those persons having responsibility and authority for formulating strategies and directing and controlling the activities of the
Group.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY
The Group's ohjectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by SAMA and to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as

a gomg concemn by maintrining a strong capital base.

SAMA has issued the framework and guidance regarding implementation of the capital refonns under Basel [II, which are effective from January 1, 2013.
Accordingly, the Group’s consolidated Risk Weighted Assets (RWA), total capital and related ratios on a consolidated group basis are calculoted under the
Basel [H framework
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

Management monitors the adequacy of its capital using ratios established by SAMA. These ratios expressed as a percentage, mensure capital adequacy by
compartny the Group’s eligible capital with its consolidated stalement of financial position assets, commitments and contingencies and notional amount of
derivatives at amounts weighted to reflect their relative risk in line with the standardized approach prescribed under the Base! [l accord as modified by
SAMA.  In accordance with the regulations promulgated by SAMA, banks in the Kingdom are expected to meet 8 minimum required capital adequacy ratio
of 8%. The comparative balances and mtios as at December 31, 2012 are calculated under Basel Il and have not been restated,

The components of risk weighted assets (RWA), capital and ratios are as follows:

2013 2012
Credit Risk RWA 71,695,801 58,831,550
Operational Risk RWA 3,653,600 3,625338
Market Risk RWA 440,854 738,672
Total RWA 75,790,255 63,195,560
Tier | Capital 8,910,966 7,841,197
Tier IT Capital 4,970,076 3278204
Total Tier I & H Capital 13,881,042 11,119,401
Capital Adequacy Ratio %3
Tier | 11.76 12.41
Tier i + Tier I 18.32 17.60

BASEL 11l - CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Certatn disclosures on the Bank's capital structure are required 1o be published on Bank’s website. These disclosures will be published on the Bank's website
www.shb.com.sa 25 required by SAMA. Such disclosures are not subject to review/audit by the external auditors of the Bank.

BASEL IIt PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURE

Under Basel IIl pillar 3, cenain quantitative and qualitative disclosures are required. These disclosures will be made available on the Group's website
www.shb.com.sa or inciuded in the annual report as required by SAMA. Such disclosures are not subject 1o review or audit by the external auditors of the
Group

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES

The Group offers investment management services fo its customers that include the management of investment funds with total assets of SAR 2.006 billion
{2012: SAR 2.262 billion) in consultation with professional investment advisors. The financial statements of these funds are not consolidated with the
consalidated financial statements of the Group. The Group's investment in these funds is included in available for sole investments. Fees earned from
management services are disclosed under “related party transactions™, Assets held in tnast or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and,
therefore, are not included in the consolidated financial statements,

STAFF SHARE BASED PLAN RESERVE

In January 2008, the Group launched an equity settled share-based payment plan (the “Plan”) for executives and senior employees (eligible employees). The
initial Plan was approved by the Board of Diirectors i their meeting held on 10 Dhu-al-Qa’dah 1428H (comesponding November 20, 2007) and SAMA in
their letter dated 26 Safar 1429H (corresponding March 4, 2008). The vesting conditions were amended in 2609 as approved by the Board of Directors in
their meeting held on 5 Shabaan 1430H {corresponding July 27, 2009) and SAMA in their letter dated 20 Dhualgada 1430H (corresponding November 9,
2009). According to the amended Plan, eligible employees will receive shares in the Bank if the following terms and conditions are met:

- Eligible employees are required to continue their employment with the Group for a period of 1wo vears from the grant date to have half of their
shares vest and another year for the remainder to vest; and

- The Group achieves specific prowth thresholds as approved by the Board of Directors where each threshold will accrue a certain value of shares
1o the eligible employees
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

Under the provisions of the Plan, the Group at no point becomes the legal owner of the underlying shares. Until such time as tliese shares vest they will not
carry voting rights. As per the plan, SHC manages the Staff Share Plan Fund (the Fund) which will operate in accordance with the terms and conditions as
approved by the Board of Directors in thetr above referred meeting and by SAMA in their above referred letter. Any further modifications in the terms and
conditions of the plan require prior approval of SAMA  Due to restrictions regarding its operations as agreed by SAMA the results and assets and liabilities
of the Fund are not consclidated in these consolidated financial statements.

During 2008, the Fund purchased 2.15 miilion Bank's shares for a total consideration of SR 114 miflion which are held by it in fiduciary capacity until the
shares vest 1o the ehgible employees. During 2012, the Fund purehased further one million shares worth of SAR 27 million. At the vesting date the
ownership of these shares will pass to the employees. The acquisition of shares was financed by the Bank and the amount is inchuded in Other Assets.

The number of shares granted 15 calculated in accordance with the performance based formuia approved by the Board of Directots and is subject to approval
of the Remuneration Comrmitiee

In accordance with the terms of the Plan, shares will be pranted to eligible employees annually and will vest as described above The first tranch was granted
in January 2008 and vested in January 2011. The Group has pranted the second, third and fourth tranche of the Plan in March 2011, 2012 and 2013
respectively. These Plans are currently under their vesting periods. The Plan details are as follows:-

Grant in 2013

Grant in 2012

Grant jn 20171

Plan Commencement date March 2013 March 2012 March 2011
Value of shares granted on the grant daie 18,623,988 15,775,890 11,850,637
Fair value per share at grant date 2724 30 40.51
Vesting period As above As above As above
Number of shares granted 683,700 525863 292 521
Vesting period March 2015 - 2016 March 2014 - 2015 March 2013 - 2014
Method of settlement Bank’s shares Bank’s shares Bank's shares
The following is the movement in number of shares in prant at December 31:
Number of shares
2013 2012
Beginmnng of the year 878,729 272,23)
Granted during the year 707,555 743,383
Shares vested during the vear (141,309) -
Forfeited dunny the year (101,364) (136,885)
Shares expected 10 vest at the reporting date 1,343,611 878,729

PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following new standards which have been issued but not yet effective for the Bank’'s accounting vears beginning
on or afier ] January 2014 and is currently assessing their impact,

i)~ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFR5 9 Financial instruments (2010): revised version of IFRS 9 applicable from I January 2037, This incorporates revised requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and carries over the existing derecopnition requirements from [AS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measuremeni.

ii) - IFRS 10— Consolidated Financial Statemenis

IFRS 10 amendment that provides conselidation relief for investments funds applicable from 1 January 2014. This mandatory consolidation relief provides
that a quatifving investment entity 15 required to account for mnvestments in controlled entities as well as investments in associates and joint ventures at fair
value through profit or loss provided it fulfils certain conditions with an exception being that subsidiaries that are considered an extension of the investment
entity s INvesting activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the years ended December 31,2013 and 2012
Amounts in SAR’000

iii) - IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation

JAS 32 amendment apphicable from | January 2014 clarify that a) 2n entity currently has a legally enforceable right to off-set if that night is not contingent on
a future event and enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and alt counterparties;
and b) gross settlement is equivalent to net settlement if an only if the gross settlement mechanism has features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit
and liquidity risk and process receivables and payables in a single settlement process or cycle.

iv) - TAS 36 - Impairment of Assets

IAS 36 amendment applicable from 1 Januasy 20i4 address the disclosure of information about the recoverable amaunt of impaired assets limiting
disclosures requirements if that amount 1s based on fair value less costs of dispasal

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain prior year fipures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL
The consolidated financial statements were appraved by the Board of Directors on Rabi Al-Awwal 29, 1435 H (comresponding to January 30, 2014).



INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of Saudi Hollandi Bank is pleased to present its annual report to the Bank's
valued shareholders for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

The Saudi Arabian economy maintained its robust growth trend during 2013 as the combination of
government investment and strong oil prices continued to provide positive stimulus. Consumer
confidence grew with a beneficial impact on key services in the Kingdom, most notably in banking.
Against this backdrop, Saudi Hollandi Bank grew its customer relationships and businesses to report the
strongest set of results in its 88 year history.

Throughout the year, the Bank worked hard to grow its customer base of corporates, individuals and
institutions and as a result saw substantial increases in its assets, deposits and non-funded income. In the
process it increased net profit by 19.84% over last year to a record SAR1,502 million - the highest ever
recorded. It also grew its balance sheet considerably to SAR 80.47 billion, an increase of 17.5% over
2012, and did so whilst maintaining its conservative provisioning policy, which was reflected by a non-
performing loan coverage ratio of 161.45%. Its capital base was further strengthened through a high level
of retained earnings together with the successful issuance of a SAR2.5 billion Tier 1l Sukuk, which will
help the Bank maintain its strong capital ratios and meet its future growth and return ambitions.

But the Bank's successes were not only reflected in its financial results. Thanks to its focused approach
to serving the needs of customers throughout the Kingdom, it received recognition from a number of
respected industry observers, winning five awards during the year, including an Excellence in Corporate
Banking award from International Alternative Investment Review and Best SME Banking Customer
Service from Banker Middle East.

Taken together, these results position Saudi Hollandi Bank as one of the strongest financial service
providers in the Kingdom, offering an extensive range of corporate and retail banking products and
services to customers through a broad branch network and other channels such as internet banking
facilities. More details on each of the businesses and their markets can be found in the Business Review
section of this report.

1- BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Bank is organised into three main business segments: Corporate Banking, Personal Banking and
Treasury. In addition, it provides brokerage, asset management and investment Banking services
through Saudi Hollandi Capital, a wholly-owned subsidiary. Other subsidiaries are the bancassurance
distribution arm, Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company and Saudi Hollandi Real Estate
Company. The Bank also holds 20% of the Wataniya insurance company.

The key services provided under each of the main business segments are:

i)  Corporate Banking

The Corporate Banking Group provides corporate, commercial and institutional clients with a wide range
of products and services including term loans, trade finance, guarantees and corporate finance and
advisory. It also offers an extensive range of Sharia’a-compliant corporate products under Islamic
structures.
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i) Personal Banking

The Personal Banking Group operates through a national network of branches and ATMs, complemented
by a range of phone Banking and e-Banking services.

Products and services in this segment include: current and time deposit accounts, personal loans, home
finance, credit cards, internet banking and telephone banking. Tailored “Preferred Banking” and
“Taqdeer” services are available to qualifying clients who place sufficient funds with the Bank. Share
trading services and fund management products are available through Saudi Hollandi Capital. The Bank
also offers a wide range of ladies banking services through a network of ladies branches.

iii) Treasury

Saudi Hollandi Bank’s Treasury unit provides hedging and investment products for customers. Building
on its leading position in foreign exchange cash products, the Treasury department has continued to grow
its structured derivatives businesses in foreign exchange and special commission rates. Treasury is
among the most active interbank market makers in Saudi Riyal-denominated foreign exchange and
special commission rate products.

The assets, liabilities and results of these segments are set out in Note 28 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The activities and services of Saudi Hollandi Bank’s subsidiaries and associates are:

Saudi Hollandi Capital (SHC). A wholly-owned subsidiary, SHC commenced business activities in
early 2008 following SAMA and CMA approval. Since then it has been involved in a number of
significant transactions, acting as principle and agent in retail equity brokerage, asset management,
corporate finance and investment advisory activity, as well as debt arrangement and securities custody
services.

Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company (SHREC). A wholly-owned subsidiary, SHREC commenced
its business activities in early 2010 following SAMA approval. SHREC is involved in the registration
of real estate title deeds in support of the Bank’s Home Financing products.

Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company (SHIAC). A wholly-owned subsidiary, SHIAC
commenced its operations in 2012 and is licensed in insurance activities.

Wataniya Insurance Company. The Bank purchased a strategic 20% equity stake in the Wataniya
Insurance Company in 2008 which enables the Bank to broaden its insurance capabilities to
complement its retail banking offering. Wataniya was incorporated in 2010.

Further details of subsidiaries and associates are covered in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Note 11 mentioned below
2- STRATEGY

The Bank’s strategy aims at continuing the pursuit of its primary objectives: to diversify and expand the
Bank’s customer base in Corporate Banking, whilst focusing on becoming the Bank of choice for its
chosen client segments in Personal Banking. These core objectives will continue to drive business
planning and management decision making.
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The following are highlights in each segment:

The Corporate Banking Group

The Bank is a long-established market player in the provision of corporate banking products and services
to some of the most respected businesses in the Kingdom. The Corporate Banking Group aims to provide
the best solutions with flawless service, focusing on mid to large corporate customers.

Corporate Banking comprises two segments: Institutional Banking for the very large corporations, and
Corporate Banking for mid-size to large enterprises, the latter being the targeted area for balance sheet
volume growth. This segmentation focuses resources to ensure that customer expectations are exceeded.

Corporate Banking’s outstanding efforts and achievements during 2013 were acknowledged by an award
of Excellence in Corporate Banking bestowed by International Alternative Investment Review, one of
the world’s leading observers on the global economy and sustainability, an addition to the Bank’s rapidly
growing list of honors and accomplishments.

The Personal Banking Group

The Personal Banking Group aims to become a leading financial services provider to mass affluent
individuals and professionals in Saudi Arabia by offering a comprehensive and high-quality personalised
service.

In 2013, Personal Banking continued to focus its activities on customer demands for easy and
straightforward products and services that meet their lifestyle requirements and that provide a positive
experience. A number of new initiatives were launched under the Home Finance offering which led to a
significant portfolio increase of SAR 3.90 billion.

The Bank’s success in serving Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) continued, with growth in
outstanding assets of 93%. During 2013, seven new SME business centers were launched and began to
market an increased range of products, with special focus on Kafalah facilities (a collaboration between
the Ministry of Finance and Saudi banks which aims to promote financing to SMEs) and a new business
credit card for SME Banking clients. These are helping to establish the Bank as a product innovator for
SMEs, a fact reflected by two awards given by Banker Middle East - Best SME Banking Account and
Best SME Banking Customer Service.

Last year saw many advances in internet and phone banking services provided by the Bank, including the
launch of new Saudi Hollandi Bank and Saudi Hollandi Capital customer websites. The Bank also
launched a mobile banking application on both the Android and iPhone platforms. The internet banking
offering by Saudi Hollandi Bank provides highly functional and user-friendly services. As a result of this
investment, the number of retail internet banking users increased by 42% during the year, which in turn
led to a 78% increase in electronic transactions.

The Bank operates 48 branches across the Kingdom, including sixteen ladies banking centers, with a
corresponding number of embedded Cash Deposit Machines. The total number of ATMs is 268.
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Saudi Hollandi B

Treasury, Saudi Hollandi Capital (SHC) and Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company (SHREC).

Treasury, SHC and SHREC provide products, services and advisory expertise specifically to the Bank’s
corporate and personal banking businesses. The Treasury unit provides corporate and personal banking
clients with hedging solutions and investment yield enhancement offerings. SHC offers a full range of
brokerage, asset management and investment banking products. SHREC provides real estate purchase
and registration services in support of the Bank’s Home Financing business.

Additionally, the Bank continues to invest in its Islamic business and is aiming to be a leader in this
field. During 2013, the Islamic Banking Division played a pivotal role in the structuring of the Bank’s
new SAR2.5 billion Tier 1l Sukuk.

3. RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Background

Risk management is of paramount importance in a banking environment, ensuring that policies set by the
Board are adhered to at all times. The Bank’s risk appetite, risk management approach and primary risk
controls are stated in its Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Plan, (ICAAP) which is approved by the
Board and submitted to the regulator on an annual basis.

In addition to the Bank’s internal risk policies, procedures and controls, the risk function operates within
the regulatory framework as set out by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency.

The Bank’s main business is corporate relationship banking in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. A large
proportion of the corporate client base has a long-standing relationship with the Bank, typically with
stable credit histories that have experienced at least one economic downturn. These characteristics enable
the Bank to take a long term view and have confidence in lending through the business cycle. As such,
the balance sheet has a large bias towards corporate risk assets.

The Bank’s strategy is to diversify its credit risk by growing its Small and Medium Enterprises assets,
mid-sized corporate assets, and consumer lending assets. For each of these target growth segments, the
Bank has specific risk policies, procedures and controls and experienced risk management staff in place.

3.2 Overview of risk-weighted assets
Being a commercial bank, the balance sheet has a material weighting of credit risk assets, as
demonstrated in its Pillar | risk-weighted asset breakdown at the end of 2013.

0.6% 4.8%
Pillar | CreditRisk RWA %

Pillar | Market Risk RWA%

Pillar | Operational Risk RWA%

94.6%

Figure 1 Risk-Weighted Assets by type
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3.3 Principal risk-types and controls

The following section provides an overview of the principal risk-types the Bank is exposed to and the
associated risk management approach.

The vast majority of principal risk-types have an associated risk-appetite metric forming part of the Risk
Appetite Statement set by the Board. On a monthly basis the Board, or its committees, monitor the
results of the risk appetite metrics so it can observe whether the Bank is operating within its prescribed
limits.

3.3.1 CreditRisk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities,
investment activities and from credit risk on credit related commitments, contingencies and derivative
counterparty exposures. The Group controls credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting
transactions with specific counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of
counterparties.

In addition to monitoring credit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating to its trading
activities by entering into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements with counterparties in
appropriate circumstances, and by limiting the duration of exposure. In certain cases management may
also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. The Group’s
credit risk on derivatives represents the potential cost to replace the derivative contracts if counterparties
fail to fulfill their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken, management assesses counter
parties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of obligors / borrowers are engaged in similar business
activities or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or
other conditions. Concentration risk may also arise from large exposures to a single borrower or group of
related borrowers.

Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management seeks to manage concentration of
credit risk through the diversification of lending activities to ensure that there is no undue concentration
of risks to individual obligors or to groups of customers in specific locations or where engaged in similar
businesses. It also takes security when appropriate and may seek additional collateral from the borrower
counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed.

Management monitors the market value of collateral on a regular basis and requests additional collateral
in accordance with the underlying agreement, if required. In addition management also specifically
monitors the market value of collateral during its review of the adequacy of the allowances for
impairment losses. Management regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect
changes in markets products and emerging best practice.

The debt securities included in the investment portfolio are mainly sovereign risk. Analysis of
investments by class of obligor / issuer is provided in note 6. For details of the composition of loans and
advances refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. Information on credit risk relating to
derivative instruments and commitments and contingencies are provided in note 11 and 19 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements. Information on the Group’s maximum credit exposure by
operating segment is provided in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Page 5 of 22



3.3.2  Operational Risk

Operational Risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events. The Bank follows the accepted ‘best practice’ methodology
of risk assessments and control evaluations for the identification of residual operational risks for both
existing products and processes as well as for proposed new products and processes.

Operational risks are identified and assessed using the Risk and Control Self-Assessment and Key Risk
Indicator tools. A register of risks, controls and mitigating actions is maintained in a central control
repository. The Operational Risk Management (“ORM”) function manages operational risk for new or
changed initiatives/products through the Operational Risk Assessment Procedure that is guided by
specific policy.

All operational losses are recorded in the Bank’s operational loss database following approval from
senior management. Losses are analysed in depth by the ORM function which can result in policies and
processes being revised or other controls being adopted to mitigate the prospect of any similar loss re-
occurrence.

3.3.3  Business Continuity Management

Business Continuity Management (BCM) is defined as the capability of the organisation to continue
delivery of products or services at acceptable predefined levels following a disruptive incident. In order
to minimise the risk of business disruption and to respond in an organised way to resume ‘business as
usual’ through a crisis situation, the Bank has a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) in place.

The activation of the BCP is authorised through the Command & Control Centre, which is the decision
making authority during the entire period of a crisis until ‘business as usual’ resumes. This centralised
approach ensures efficiency and effectiveness in the business recovery process while minimising
uncertainty in responsibilities and potential duplication of effort. A number of key-business continuity
risk scenarios are identified of varying severity levels that could give rise to the BCP being initiated.

Regular reports are circulated to senior management that cover the status of all the key BCM initiatives,
completed tasks and ongoing tasks.

3.3.4  Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due
to changes in market variables such as commission rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices.
Management classifies exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading (banking) book.

The market risk for the trading book is managed and monitored using a Value at Risk (VaR)
methodology. Market risk for the non-trading book is managed and monitored using a combination of
VaR, stress testing and sensitivity analysis.

3.3.4.1 Market risk - Trading book

The Board of Directors has set limits for the acceptable level of risk in managing the trading book. In
order to manage market risk in the trading book, management applies a VaR methodology daily to assess
the market risk positions held and also to estimate the potential loss based on a set of assumptions and
changes in market conditions.

A VaR methodology estimates the potential negative change in the market value of a portfolio at a given
confidence level and over a specified time horizon. The Group uses simulation models to assess the
possible changes in the market value of the trading book based on historical data. VaR models are
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usually designed to measure the market risk in a normal market environment and therefore the use of
VaR has limitations as it is based on historical correlations and volatilities in market prices and assumes
that future movements will follow a statistical distribution. The VaR model that management uses
provides an estimate, using a confidence level of 99%, of the potential loss that is not expected to be
exceeded if the current market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of a 99%
confidence level implies that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding the VaR figure should occur, on
average, not more than once every hundred days.

The VaR is based on the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day, and it does not account for any
losses that may occur beyond the defined confidence interval. The actual trading results may differ from
the VaR calculations, and in particular, the calculation does not provide a meaningful indication of
profits and losses in stressed market conditions.

To overcome the VaR limitations mentioned above, management maintains a framework of non-modeled
limits that show potential loss for a given change in a market factor and makes no assumption about the
behavior of market factors. Furthermore, management employs stop loss limits on market risk positions
and carries out stress tests of its portfolio to simulate conditions outside normal confidence intervals. The
potential losses occurring under stress test conditions are reported regularly to the Asset and Liability
Committee (ALCO) for review.

3.3.4.2 Market Risk-Non-Trading /Banking Book:
Market risk on non-trading or banking book positions mainly arises from commission rate, foreign
currency exposures and equity price changes.

— Commission Rate Risk

Commission rate risk in the banking book arises from the possibility that changes in commission rates
will affect the future cash flows of financial instruments. The Board of Directors has established
commission rate gap limits for stipulated periods. These limits are monitored daily by the Group’s
Treasury Division. The Group is exposed to commission rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the
amounts of assets and liabilities and other derivative financial instruments that mature or re-price in a
given period. This risk is managed by matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities through risk
management strategies. Management monitors positions and where necessary uses hedging strategies to
ensure maintenance of positions within established gap limits.

— Currency Risk
Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of financial instruments due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Board of Directors have set limits on positions by currencies, which are monitored
daily. Hedging strategies are also used to ensure that positions are maintained within these limits.

Exposure to the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on the Group’s
financial position and cash flows is managed by the Board of Directors setting limits on the level of
exposure by currency and in total. These limits are monitored daily.

— Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the fair values of equities in the Group’s non-trading
investment portfolio as a result of changes in levels of equity indices or the value of individual stocks.
The Group does not have significant exposure to equities.

3.3.5 Liquidity Risk

The management of liquidity is a core function of the Bank, being inherent in the maturity
transformation process that underlies corporate and retail banking. Liquidity risk is the risk that the
Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
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settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. Liquidity risk can be caused by market wide
disruptions or bank specific events which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up at short notice.

To mitigate liquidity risk diversified funding sources are sought by the Bank and assets are managed
considering liquidity positions to maintain a healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents and readily
marketable securities. The Bank has in place a suite of liquidity monitoring tools which are a mixture of
internal and regulatory measures including those set out under the Basel Il accord. These include both
short-term and longer term measures under normal and stressed conditions.

The Bank has a Contingency Funding Plan in place that sets out the plan of action the Bank would use to
fund business activity in crisis situations and periods of market stress.

3.3.6  Macro-economic and business cycle risk

Being largely a corporate bank means there is an inevitable relationship between the business cycle and
the Bank’s financial performance. The risks posed from an economic downturn and the severity and
length thereof are uncertain, and historical data can be no more than indicative. As such, specific risk-
mitigants cannot be precise. A protracted downturn would most likely pose a risk to the Bank in the form
of heightened credit risk. Additionally an economic downturn would likely reduce business activity,
therefore reduce the Bank’s ability to write new business.

A large proportion of the corporate client base has a long-standing relationship with the Bank, typically
with stable credit histories that have experienced at least one economic downturn. These characteristics
enable the Bank to take a long term view and have confidence in lending through the business cycle.
Irrespective of the stage of the economic cycle, the Bank maintains its credit stance that business
proposals must meet the risk criteria and the required risk-return hurdle for the long-term stability and
growth of the Bank.

3.3.7  Strategic risk

Strategic risk relates to institutional changes in strategy and changes in fundamental market conditions.
Strategic risk is a key-consideration when business planning is undertaken. Excessive strategic risk may
arise as the result of planning to enter into new markets, into new products, or through geographical
expansion. Management does not believe that there are any transformational or ‘high-risk’ initiatives
that would give rise to Strategic Risk.

Performance against strategic goals is monitored regularly in business and project review meetings. The
Business Performance Review Meetings, held between the Bank’s finance department, senior
management, and the respective business unit focus on progress against financial and non-financial Key
Performance Indicators which enable management to identify aspects of performance that may require
additional focus. The Bank’s Project Investment Committee reviews the status of live projects and the
appraisal of proposed projects. Board and management consider these review meetings as a risk-mitigant
to ensure the Bank stays on track to meets its strategic objectives.

3.3.8  Reputational Risk

Reputational risk covers the risk of losses due to other market participants, including clients, forming an
adverse opinion of the Bank, irrespective of whether this opinion is based on facts or merely perception.
Given the nature of reputational risk, risk measurement can be considered both qualitatively and
quantitatively.
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The Bank’s principal strategy for managing reputational risk is focused at protecting the Bank’s
reputation by guiding corporate and employee behaviour using the following core components:

— SHB's corporate values;
— SHB's business principles;
— SHB's reputational risk management policies and standards.

Among the applicable policies and standards are those dealing with Client Acceptance and Anti-money
Laundering, credit policies and a staff whistle blowing policy.

The Bank quantitatively measures reputational risks using performance indicators such as customer
complaints and undesirable staff turnover. The results from these metrics are observed by management
on regular intervals. A consistently negative trend in any of the measures would result in direct and
immediate action being taken by management.

3.3.9 Risks in the Islamic Banking Division

The Bank considers risks within its Islamic Banking Division separately — the principal risk areas are:
commodities fulfillment and handling, operational risks and reputational risks. For all these areas, there
are specific processes, controls and procedures in place.

Any failure by the Bank to conduct its business in compliance with Shari’ah approvals issued by its
Shari’ah Board could cause a serious reputational risk. The Bank follows a strict policy of zero tolerance
in failure to comply with the Shari’ah Board’s approvals and therefore places emphasis on the following:

a) It is mandatory for all staff who are involved with any aspect of Islamic Banking business to
complete the AlYusr Accreditation Program that consists of basic and advanced level Islamic
Banking training

b) Product and business/branch level workshops are conducted to enhance the staff’s understanding of
Islamic Banking business

¢) Prior to the launch of a new Islamic product, the sales and other relevant staff are given training on
the product structure and procedures

d) The Bank regularly arranges client seminars to increase its clients’ understanding of Islamic Banking
and finance concepts in general, and Islamic products offered by the bank in particular

e) Shari’ah audits are carried out on a regular basis to ensure Shari’ah compliance.

3.3.10 Other risk types

Other risks that the Bank considers in the course of business are securitisation and syndication risk,
activities that it is not currently active in. Global risk is considered in context with macro-economic and
business cycle risk.

3.3.11 Stress-testing

The Bank’s stress testing framework has been developed in line with SAMA guidelines published during
2011 as well as Basel guidelines. The framework initially considers the materiality of the Bank’s risk
types, as such focuses on credit events (given the prominence of credit risk) together with a reduction in
earnings and stressed levels of operational losses, market risk stresses, and liquidity stresses.

A number of stressed economic scenarios are performed ranging from mild, severe to extreme. A major
output from the stress-testing is a set of management actions which are designed to address risks
identified and / or to moderate sensitivity to particular risk types.

Further details to the risks the Bank is exposed to are detailed in Notes 29, 31 and 32 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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4- CREDIT RATING:

Saudi Hollandi Bank's credit rating has been assessed by Moody’s and Fitch Group:

Credit Rating Agency Rating
Moody’s Al
Fitch Group A-

5- FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Board of Directors are pleased to report a record net profit of SAR 1,502 million, a 19.84% increase
compared with 2012. Year-on-year revenue increased by 17.87%, with net interest income increasing by
18.31%, driven by balance sheet growth. Non-interest income increased by 17.15%, driven by strong fee
growth from all divisions of the Bank.

The Bank achieved its largest balance sheet in history at SAR 80.47 billion. Loans and advances were
18.50% above the 2012 year-end closing balance of SAR 53.65 billion. During 2013 emphasis continued
on credit quality and risk -reward ratios. The Bank has maintained its conservative approach to
provisioning. The coverage of NPLs increased to 161.45% from 152.82%; the non-performing loans to
gross loan ratio at year-end closed at 1.34% from 1.55%.

The Bank’s long established corporate banking franchise was positioned well to benefit from the
continued economic expansion. During the year, trade services fee income increased by 11.44%, loan
arrangement fees increased by 29% and in concert with the Treasury unit, foreign exchange income
increased by 3.45%.

Within Personal Banking, momentum continued during the year with fees and commission increasing by
14.94%. Notably, the year-end balance sheet for Personal Banking closed at a new record high largely
due to the Bank’s continued success in the Home Loans segment.

A key strategic objective is cost control with operating expenses and capital expenditure being constantly
scrutinised. The cost-income ratio for the year was 34.2%; lower than the prior year at 38.1% as cost-
saving initiatives continue to translate into operational efficiencies.

The Income vs. Cost growth graph below, (excluding provisions), displays the success of our tight cost
management during 2013.
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Saudi Hollandi

Key Business Unit financial data

SAR 'min and rounded off Investment

Corporate Consumer banking and

Banking Banking Treasury invest. Others Total

services
Total assets 44,297 9,552 21,609 506 4,504 80,468
Total liabilities 31,552 20,332 2,494 24 16,665 71,067
Net operating income for the
year 1,306 190 195 21 (210) 1,502
Key Bank-wide financial data and ratios

5-year trend SAR millions and rounded
off 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Loans 53,652 45,276 37,410 35,039 36,023
Investments 16,849 11,379 11,503 11,752 12,132
Total Assets 80,468 68,506 57,197 53,882 59,110
Deposits 61,875 53,914 44,689 41,604 44,827
Due to banks 2,494 1,475 1,611 2,857 5,757
Subordinated debt 4,625 2,900 1,500 1,500 1,500
Shareholders' Equity 9,401 8,306 7,408 6,387 5,633
Net Profit 1,502 1,253 1,032 790 86
Earning per Share — SAR 3.78 3.16 2.60 2.39 0.26
Gross Dividends per share - SAR 1.18* 1.12 1.14 Nil Nil
5-year trend SAR millions 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
NPLs 739 722 735 931 2,241
NPL% 1.3 1.6 1.9 2.6 6.2
Coverage % 161.5 152.8 145.5 124.4 100.2
Capital ratios (%)
- Tier 1 11.8 12.4 13.2 12.7 11.2
- Total 18.3 17.6 16.6 16.4 14.8
Loans to deposit (%) 80.9 79.9 81.4 81.3 77.8
Liguidity ratio (%) 25.8 27.0 26.2 28.8 38.0

*Proposed dividend per share

In 2013, the Bank successfully issued Sharia’a and Basel III compliant Sukuk with tenor of 10 years
raising SAR 2.5 billion, which qualifies as Tier Il capital under the Basel Ill transitional guidelines,
priced competitively at 6 months SIBOR + 1.55%. The funds will be used to grow the Bank’s Islamic
business, to manage its asset and liability mix and to provide a capital buffer.

The Bank’s capital ratios remained strong with the total capital ratio closing the year at 18.32% and the
Tier 1 ratio closing the year at 11.76%, both ratios factor the proposed dividend for 2013. These robust
capital levels will allow the Bank to meet its growth strategy and dividend policy throughout 2014 and
beyond.
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During 2013, the Bank continued its success journey with substantial financial performance and achieved
yet another record high profit. The Bank achieved a record high year-end balance sheet whilst
maintaining its disciplined approach to asset quality, risk-returns, prudent approach to provisioning and
focus on portfolio diversification. Furthermore, the highly successful Sukuk issuance puts s the Bank in
an enviable position to be able to meet future growth opportunities.

6- GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION
Geographical distribution of credit risk is as follows:

. Other GCC
‘ Saudi . North South East- Other

2013 SAR 1000 Arabia andEl\a/lllsctidIe Europe America Asia Countries Total
Assets
Cash and Balances with SAMA 6,662,522 - - - - - 6,662,522
Due from banks and other 632,663 453,663 481,263 166,699 2,665 14,414 1,751,367
financial institutions
Investments, net 15,150,531 1,223,963 375,050 - - 99,618 16,849,162
Loans and advancesl net 53,211,260 441,065 - - - - 53,652,325
Total 75,656,976 2,118,691 856,313 166,699 2,665 114,032 78,915,376
Commitments and 27,287,819 366,408 604,424 | 148,218 2,023 1,679,361 | 30,088,253
Contingencies
Maximum credit exposure ( stated at credit equivalent amounts)
Commitments and 13,149,403 262,938 376,165 | 62,394 1,011 671,453 | 14,523,364
Contingencies
Derivatives 564,855 41,276 703,235 3,554 2 0 1,312,922

The three subsidiaries of the Bank SHC, SHREC and SHIC have no exposures outside the Kingdom.
Further details are provided in Note 30 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

7- KEY PROFIT AND LOSS ITEMS AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INCOME

The graph below displays the major profit and loss lines as a percentage of total income.

2013 2012

Operating
Expense
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Net Profit 38%
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Net Profit
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8% Provisions

6%

The table below shows the variation in the key profit and loss lines between 2013 and 2012:

SAR millions 2013 2012 9% change

Total Income 2,616 2,219 18%
Operating expenses 895 846 6%
Provisions (net) 218 120 80%
Other 0.8) 0.3 (372%)
Net Profit 1,502 1,253 20%
Earnings per share (SAR) 3.78 3.16 20%

8-FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS & AUDIT

The Bank prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with accounting standards for
financial institutions promulgated by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency and International Financial
Reporting Standards. These include International Accounting Standards and interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board as required by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency.

Proper books of account have been maintained. The Bank has an Internal Audit department which
submits its reports to the Audit Committee which in turn reports to the Board of Directors who have
oversight of the Bank’s Internal Audit System. The Audit Committee oversees the proper functioning
and independence of the Internal Audit department and considers its recommendations. The Audit
Committee has periodic discussions with the management, the internal auditors and the external auditors
on matters affecting consolidated financial statements, internal controls and various governance and
control issues and advises the Board of Directors accordingly. The Board acknowledges receipt of that
advice.
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9- EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Board of Directors assisted by the Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring the existence of an
effective and efficient internal control system in the Bank.

Management is responsible for the appropriate design and functioning of the system, and the Risk
Management, Internal Audit and Compliance Departments for the continuous monitoring and evaluation
of the system. The external auditors are responsible for determining the adequacy of the system of
internal controls to decide on the level of reliance they can place on the effectiveness of Bank’s internal
controls and to design their audit procedures.

All employees are ultimately responsible for operating and maintaining an efficient internal control
system at their respective levels.

Systems and procedures have been designed for effective and efficient operations, safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or dispositions, maintaining proper accounting records, providing reliable
financial information used within the business or for publications, compliance with applicable laws and
regulations and for monitoring internal policies in relation to business performance. The system in place
is designed to manage, rather than to eliminate, the risks of failure to achieve business objectives. It can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.

During its normal course of business, the Bank is exposed to credit, market and operational risks.
Policies, procedures and processes are in place to identify, measure, control, and mitigate such risks.
There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks faced by the
Bank and for ensuring there are appropriate controls in place to manage them. In addition to regular
reviews by the concerned departments, exposures to these risks are covered by various management
committees within the Bank.

Systems and procedures are in place to identify, control, and report on the major risks including credit,
changes in the market prices of financial instruments, liquidity, operational errors, and fraud. Exposure to
these risks throughout the Bank is monitored by each of the Operational Risk Committee, the Asset and
Liability Committee (“ALCO”), and the Head Office Credit Committee (the Bank’s Senior Credit
Committee). These exposures are also monitored by the Executive Committee.

The Internal Audit function provides Management with an independent and objective assessment of the
effectiveness of the internal control framework. This objective is achieved by following a risk based
Audit plan which is approved by the Audit Committee. The Operational Risk and Compliance functions
also monitor the control environment during their respective reviews in close coordination with each
other.

As part of the Bank’'s commitment to provide an effective internal control system which ensures that all
material risks that could adversely affect the achievement of the Bank's goals are recognised and are
continually assessed, a state-of-the-art Governance, Risk and Compliance system ("GRC") is being put
into place. The GRC initiative is a joint effort by Operational Risk Management, Compliance, Internal
Audit and Information Security. This unified platform to collect and monitor the risks, controls,
deficiencies and actions also ensures that the control activities form an integral part of the daily activities
of the Bank. The control activities are being defined for every business level and every department with
automated follow-up on non-compliance through approval workflows.

The Bank’s GRC thus facilitates a unified picture of risk factors and thresholds. It clarifies
responsibilities and creates more transparency in risk ownership allowing the Bank to close any control
gaps and to present a full coverage of the various types of risks. Moreover, the Bank’s GRC goes hand in
hand with the integration of risk management with the Bank’s governance processes as it also aims to
consolidate all risk registers and controls to optimize the functions of all the Bank’s internal control
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departments. The Bank also continually refines and realigns its GRC initiatives as markets and
circumstances change to avert future risks. The initiative will also involve a communication and training
program to ensure that all staff fully understand and adhere to policies and procedures affecting their
duties and responsibilities.

By considering all the factors in the preceding paragraphs, the control environment in place and the
yearly reviews of its effectiveness, the Board is of the opinion that the functioning of the internal control
system is appropriate and nothing has come to the attention of the Audit Committee that causes it to
believe that the system of internal control has not been properly designed or implemented or that
effective and efficient internal controls have not been in place throughout the year 2013.

10- SAUDI HOLLANDI BANK’S ETHICAL STANDARDS AND CODE OF CONDUCT

The Saudi Hollandi Bank ethical standards and Code of Conduct represent a standard and a guide for
high ethical principles and professional business dealings practices. Through its Code of Conduct, the
Bank is committed to instill and maintain a culture of professionalism where the utmost ethical standards
prevail. The Bank’s Code of Conduct is based on fundamental principles of integrity; confidentiality and
professionalism. It applies to all Directors, employees, consultants, affiliates and any other person that
may represent the Bank. Saudi Hollandi Bank operates under the governing authority of its Board of
Directors, who respectively, oversees the implementation and effectiveness of its ethical standards and
Code of Conduct.

11- SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
A. Saudi Hollandi Capital

Saudi Hollandi Capital (SHC) was formed in accordance with the Capital Market Authority's (CMA)
Resolution number 1-39-2007 under commercial registration number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijja
1428 H (corresponding to January 09, 2008) to take over and manage the Group's Investment Services
and Asset Management activities related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and taking custody of
securities regulated by CMA. SHC is effectively wholly owned by the Bank through direct and
beneficial ownership and commenced its operations effective 2 Rabi’ll 1429H (corresponding to April 9,
2008). SHC head office is in Riyadh, and it is operating within the Kingdom.

The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Saudi Hollandi Capital is SAR 400 million,
consisting of 400,000 shares of SAR 1,000 each.

B. Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company

Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company (SHREC), an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank
through direct and beneficial ownership, was established under commercial registration number
1010250772 dated 21 Jumada | 1429H (corresponding to May 26, 2008) with the approval of the Saudi
Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA). SHREC engages in the activities of the purchase, sale and leasing
of real estate. It further engages in the registration of real estate title deeds of financed products and
manages real estate funds. SHREC head office is in Riyadh, and it is operating within the Kingdom.

The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Saudi Hollandi Real Estate Company is SAR
500,000, consisting of 500 shares of SAR 1,000 each.

C. Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company

Saudi Hollandi Insurance Agency Company (SHIAC), an effectively wholly owned subsidiary of the
Bank through direct and beneficial ownership was established under commercial registration number
1010300250 dated 29 Muharram 1432H (corresponding to January 4, 2011) with the approval of SAMA.
The Company was formed to act as an agent for Wataniya Insurance Company (WIC), an associate,
selling its products.
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D. Wataniya Insurance Company

The Bank purchased a 20% equity stake in the Wataniya Insurance Company during 2008 at a cost of
SAR 20 million. It is classified as an associate company. This strategic acquisition enables the Bank to
have an insurance capability to complement the existing retail banking offering. Wataniya was
incorporated on 15th May 2010 and commenced trading on 1st July 2010.

12- LONG TERM BORROWINGS

As of 31% December 2013, the borrowings comprise of three outstanding Sharia’a-compliant subordinated
Sukuk. The 2009 Sukuk for SAR 725 million will mature in 2019, the 2012 Sukuk for SAR 1,400 million
will mature in 2019 and the 2013 Sukuk issue for SAR 2,500 million will mature in 2023. All these
Sukuk are callable at the option of Saudi Hollandi Bank after five years of their issuance date, subject to
SAMA approval.

Further details are provided in Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

13- DIVIDEND POLICY

A. Article (49) of the Bank’s articles of association states that the net annual profits shall be distributed
after deducting all general expenses, other expenses and after taking necessary provisions for possible
credit and investment losses and contingent liabilities, and any other necessary deductions proposed by
the Board of Directors in accordance with the Saudi Arabian Banking Control Law. After these
deductions, dividend distribution is subject to the following:

I.  The Zakat due on the Saudi shareholders and tax on the non-Saudi shareholders will be
calculated based on their share of the net profit. These deductions will be made under the laws of
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The company shall pay these amounts to the concerned authority;

Il.  Twenty five percent of the net profit after deduction of Zakat and tax as specified in item (1)
shall be allocated for the purpose of constituting a statutory reserve until this reserve becomes at
least equal to the paid up capital;

1. Out of the remaining net profit, after deducting the Zakat, income tax and any statutory reserve
requirements, five percent at least of the paid up capital shall be allocated for distribution to the
Saudi and non-Saudi shareholders based on their respective contribution to the share capital
according to what was proposed by the Board of Directors and approved by the General
Assembly. In case such remaining net profit is not sufficient for paying such dividend,
shareholders will not be entitled to claim the balance of the said percentage in the subsequent
year or years. The General Assembly is not allowed to propose dividends in excess of what was
proposed by the Board of Directors;

V. The remaining amount, after the allocations as stated in Item I, Il, I, if any, shall be utilised at
the Board’s recommendation, and as approved by the General Assembly;

V.  The share percentage of Saudi and non-Saudi shareholders is to be maintained when determining
the necessary deduction for the statutory reserve and other reserves from the net profit after
deducting Zakat and taxes, provided these two groups (Saudi and non-Saudi Shareholders) shall
contribute to these reserves pro-rata to their share in the capital which shall be deducted from
their respective share in the net profit.

B. Guiding Principles

In reviewing and setting the annual dividend policy the Board and senior management will be guided by
the following principles:

I.  Dividend sustainability:
To build long term shareholder value and market confidence in the Bank’s future, the amount
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and frequency of dividends to be paid shall be evaluated based on the Bank’s ability to continue
paying at an equal or increased level in the foreseeable future. Risks that may threaten the
Bank’s ability to maintain current levels of dividends need to be identified and evaluated,;

Il.  Growth of the Bank:
The amount, frequency and type of dividends paid shall not impede the ability of the Bank to
meet its strategic growth plans;

I1l.  Capital management:
During the annual review and while setting the dividend policy for the current year, the Board
and senior management must ensure that the Bank:

maintains sufficient levels of capital to meet the minimum regulatory requirements as set by
SAMA,;

maintains sufficient levels of capital levels to support the Bank’s strategic growth objectives as
presented in the Bank’s ICAAP;

considers any proposed changes to future minimum capital levels made by the Basel committee;
does not hold capital in excess of the requirements as summarized in items I) and 1I) above.

14- PROPOSED CASH DIVIDEND AND BONUS SHARES

The proposed dividend for 2013 amounts to SAR.468.34 million, a 5.4% increase over the prior year.
This will be subject to approval at the Ordinary General Shareholders Assembly due in first quarter of
2014. It shall be paid to the shareholders in the locations and on the dates as set by the Board of
Directors.

The Board also proposed an increase in the Bank’s capital by 20% from SAR 3,969 million to SAR
4,762.8 million, which will be facilitated through the distribution of 1 bonus share for every 5 shares
held. This proposal is subject to the approval of the Extraordinary General Shareholders Assembly to be
held in the first quarter of 2014.

15- SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS
Material shareholdings (i.e. in excess of 5%) during 2013.

-1 January 2013 - 31 December 2013
Shares Held %  Shares Held %  Change %
ABN AMRO Bank N. V. 158,760,000 : 40.0 158,760,000 @ 40.0 0
Olayan Saudi Investment Company 86,715,000 : 21.8 86,715,000 : 21.8 0
General Organization for Social Insurance 38,415,416 9.7 41,331,999 = 104 0.7

16- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During its ordinary course of business, the Bank conducts business with its related parties. These
transactions are done undergoing the same fair dealing conditions of other parties and it is subject to the
limits stipulated in the Banking Control Law and instructions issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary
Agency as well as the Bank’s internal related party transaction policy.

Note 34 to the audited Consolidated Financial statements summarises all related party transactions.
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17- BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The membership status of the Bank’s directors during 2013

Companies were as follows:

and their directorships in Joint-Stock

Name

Membership Status

Directorship in other listed companies

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah
(Chairman)

Independent

National Industrialization Co, Malath
Insurance Co., Gulf Chemicals & Industrial
Qils Co., Tasnee & Sahara Olefins Co.

Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan

Non-Executive

Schlumberger Co.

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi Independent Saudi Electricity Co,, Chemical
Development Co., Basic Chemical Industries
Co., Saudi United Cooperative Insurance
Company

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif Independent Arab Cement Co. Ltd, Byblos Bank, Bupa

Arabia Insurance Company

Mr. Eyad Adbulrahman Al-Hussain

Non-Executive

Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi Independent Saudi Tunisian Bank, Safanad Investment
Mr. Jan Koopman Non-Executive -
Dr. Bernd van Linder Executive Wataniya Insurance Co.

Mr. Javier Maldonado

Non-Executive

Mr. Simon Penney*

Non-Executive

*Mr. Simon Penney resigned from the Board on 23/04/2013

The Board of Directors convened four times during the year as per the table below.

Name Sessions 29 Jan 22 April 21 July 09 Dec
Attended 2013 2013 2013 2013

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah 4 N v N v
(Chairman)

Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan 4 N v N v
Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif 3 v Vv X v
Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi 4 v v v v
Mr. Eyad Adbulrahman Al-Hussain 4 v v v v
Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulagi 3 X v v v
Mr. Javier Maldonado 2 X v X v
Mr. Jan Koopman 4 N v N v
Mr. Simon Penney* 1 v X X X
Dr. Bernd van Linder 4 v v v v

*\/: Present X: Absent

*Mr.Simon Penney resigned from the Board on 23/04/2013
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Board Committees:

The Board of Directors has three committees - the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, and the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

I. Executive Committee
The Executive Committee is empowered by the Board of Directors in accordance with article 26 of the
Bank's Articles of Association. The Executive Committee shall assist the Board of Directors within the
powers determined for it by the Board, and deal with all matters referred to it by the Board though the
committee shall not have power to alter any decision, rules or regulations taken or laid down by the
Board. It consists of the Chairman and four members of the Board (as below). The Executive Committee
convened 6 times during the year.

Members

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah (Chairman)

Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif

Mr. Javier Maldonado

Dr. Bernd van Linder

Il.  Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a sub committee appointed by the Board of Directors. The Committee is
responsible for monitoring all control issues of the Bank. This Committee oversees the functioning and
independence of the Internal Audit department and considers its recommendations. The Committee has
periodic discussions with management, the internal auditors and the external auditors on matters
affecting Consolidated Financial Statements and internal controls and advises the Board of Directors
accordingly. The Audit Committee convened four times during the year.

Members

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi (Chairman)
Mr. Saleh Hassan Husain

Mr. Muffadal Abbas Mohammed Ali

I1l.  Nomination and Remuneration Committee
In accordance with article (15) of the Corporate Governance regulation Issued by CMA decision no. 1-
212-2006 dated 21/10/1427H corresponding 12/11/2006 and after having the approval of General
Shareholders Assembly in its meeting held on 29™ March 2008, the Board of Directors established a
separate committee for nomination and remuneration. The duties and responsibilities of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee include the following:

1- Recommendation of appointments to the Board

2- Annual review of the requirement of suitable skills for membership of the Board of Directors

3- Review the structure of the Board of Directors and the absence of conflict of interest of their
membership.

4- Establish clear policies for the remuneration of Board members and the Bank’s senior
management.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee convened three times during the year.
Members
Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif (Chairman)
Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan
Mr. Eyad Adbulrahman Al-Hussain
Mr. Javier Maldonado
Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi
The Bank’s compensation policies have also been amended where necessary to comply with the Basel
accord.
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18- BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

(All amounts in SAR ‘000)

Six Executive
Managers in the Bank
. Executive Board Non-Executive Board Receiving Highest
Details i
Members Members Compensation,
including MD and
CFO
Salaries & Compensations Nil Nil 8,245
Allowances Nil Nil 3,179
Annual &  Periodical Nil Nil .
- Nil
Remunerations
Incentives Nil Nil 10,244
Any other Compensations
or benefits (in kind paid Nil 2,631 Nil
monthly or annually)

19- DIRECTORS & SENIOR MANAGEMENT INTERESTS (Including their Spouses and minors)

Board Members

Including the 1,000 qualification shares held by each Board Member during their term of office, shares
held by the Directors at the beginning and end of 2013 are set out in the table below.

Name Shares Held as of | Shares Held as of
1* Jan 2013 31 Dec 2013
Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah (Chairman) 7,500 7.500
Mrs. Lubna Sulaiman Al-Olayan 21,150 21,150
Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi 1,200 1,200
Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi 7,058 7,058
Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif 180,000 100,000
Mr. Eyad Adbulrahman Al-Hussain Nil Nil
Members appointed by ABN AMRO 4,000 4,000
Dr. Bernd van Linder 19,794 Nil

Senior Management:

Shares held by senior management at the beginning and end of 2013 are set out in the table below:

Name Shared Held as of | Shared Held as of
1° Jan 2013 31° Dec 2013

Mr. Lav Kataria Nil 33

Mr. Musad Abdullah Al-Hammadi 11,994 Nil

Mr. Yagoob Al-Oraini Nil 1,057

Mr. Fawaz Al-Onazi Nil 1,587

20- EXTERNAL AUDITORS

At the Annual Ordinary General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders held on 07/05/1434 (19
March,2013), Messrs Deloitte & Touche Bakr Abulkhair & Co. and KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan were
appointed as joint external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2013 for a total remuneration of

SAR 980,000.
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21- PAYMENT OF ZAKAT, INCOME TAX & OTHERS
Zakat and income tax are paid as follows:

a. Saudi Shareholders

Zakat attributable to Saudi Shareholders for the year is an estimated SAR 49 million (2012: SAR 54
million), which will be deducted from their share of future dividends. Zakat paid in prior year will be
deducted from the current year's proposed dividend resulting in a net dividend of SAR 1 per share.

b. Non-Saudi Shareholders

Income tax payable on the current year’s share of income of foreign shareholders is an estimated SAR 119
million (2012: SAR 98 million). Tax liability amounting to SAR 96 million will be deducted from current
year's proposed dividend resulting in a net dividend of SAR 0.55 per share.

c. Governmental agencies
The below table displays the major payments made to governmental agencies.

Payment (SAR 000) 2013 2012
Zakat & Income Tax 178,496 143,200
GOSI 43,959 40,665
Visas and passports 675 642
Total 223,130 184,507

22- SHARE PLAN

In January 2008, the Group launched an equity settled share-based payment plan (the “Plan”) for
executives and senior employees (eligible employees). The initial Plan was approved by the Board of
Directors in their meeting held on 10 Dhu-al-Qa’dah 1428H (corresponding November 20, 2007) and
SAMA in their letter dated 26 Safar 1429H (corresponding March 4, 2008). The vesting conditions were
amended in 2009 as per approval by the Board of Directors in their meeting held on 5 Shabaan 1430H
(corresponding July 27, 2009) and SAMA in their letter dated 20 Dhualgada 1430H (corresponding
November 9, 2009). According to the amended Plan, eligible employees will receive shares in the Bank
if the following terms and conditions are met:

- Eligible employees are required to continue their employment with the Group for a period of two years
from the grant date to have half of their shares vest and another year for the remainder to vest; and

- The Group achieves specific growth thresholds as approved by the Board of Directors where each
threshold will accrue a certain value of shares to the eligible employees.

Under the provisions of the Plan, the Group at no point becomes the legal owner of the underlying
shares. Until such time as these shares vest they will not carry voting rights. As per the plan, SHC
manages the Staff Share Plan Fund (the Fund) which will operate in accordance with the terms and
conditions as approved by the Board of Directors in their above referred meeting and by SAMA in their
above referred letter. Any further modifications in the terms and conditions of the plan require prior
approval of SAMA. Due to restrictions regarding its operations as agreed by SAMA the results and
assets and liabilities of the Fund are not consolidated in these consolidated financial statements.

23-APPLICABLE REGULATIONS

Saudi Hollandi Bank has adhered to the provisions of the Banking Control Law, Saudi Companies’ Law,
and regulations issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA) and the Capital Market
Authority (CMA). In the event of conflicting regulation, the Bank adheres to the existing rules governing
banks and joint stock companies prior to the foundation of the Capital Market Authority.
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During 2013 the Bank paid SAR 352,000 in respect of penalties levied by regulatory authorities in the
Kingdom as per the following table:

Authority Imposing the Penalty Amount (SAR)
Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority 232,100
Capital Markets Authority Nil
Various municipalities 19,900
ATM signage penalty 100,000
Total 352,000

24- DECLARATIONS
The Board of Directors hereby declares that:

Proper books of account have been maintained;

The Bank prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with accounting
standards for financial institutions promulgated by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency and
International Financial Reporting Standards, including International Accounting Standards,
consistent with interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and as
required by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency;

Internal Audit Control was properly and efficiently implemented,;

The Bank has no existing contracts in which a Director, the MD, the CFO or a party related to
any of them has a material interest;

There is no doubt as to the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Bank has implemented all provisions of the Corporate Governance Regulations issued by CMA with
the exception of applying the Accumulative Voting method in the nomination of the Board Members
which was not approved by the Extra-Ordinary General Shareholders Meeting held on 6th October 2012.

CONCLUSION

The Board of Directors of Saudi Hollandi Bank extends its regards and gratitude to the Custodian of the
Two Holy Mosques, King Abdullah bin Abdulaziz Al Saud, and to HRH the Crown Prince, HRH the
Second Deputy Minister, HE the Minister of Finance, HE The Minister of Commerce and Industry, HE
the Governor of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency and HE the Chairman of the Capital Market
Authority for their continued support to the banking community.

The Board of Directors also extends its thanks and appreciation to the shareholders, customers and
correspondents of Saudi Hollandi Bank for their continuing confidence and support.

Finally, appreciation must be given to the Bank's management and staff for their dedication and team
work, without which this year's achievements would not have been possible.

Board of Directors
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